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Overview
As at 31 December 2010

Summary

Company operations significantly restructured; cost base reduced

Assets under management $1.06 billion (December 2009: $1.35 billion)

Encouraging overall risk adjusted performance by RAB investment strategies: award winning 
performance by RAB Energy Fund

New team to manage the RAB Europe Fund

Modest inflows into remaining funds over later months of the year

UCITS funds to be launched in H1, 2011

2010 trading summary

Revenue down 15% to £11.9 million (2009: £13.9 million)

Restructuring charge of £3.5 million

Loss after tax of £19.4 million (2009: loss £3.1 million after tax)

Basic and diluted loss per Ordinary share 4.10p (2009: loss 0.65p)

Year end position

Balance sheet remains strong: net current assets and investments £82.0 million (2009: £98.7 
million) after outlay of £3.3 million (2009: £12.5 million) on buybacks and dividends  

Net current assets and investments per Ordinary share 17.4p* (2009: 20.9p) 

Final dividend of 0.10p per Ordinary share (2009: second interim 0.50p) proposed to give 
total dividends for the year of 0.20p per Ordinary share (2009: 1.10p)

*based on 470,471,248 shares in issue excluding shares held in treasury at 31 December 2010



RAB Capital plc Annual Report and Accounts 2010

2 Executive Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s statement

Summary

2010 was another year of transition 
for RAB.  Over the year we bedded 
in the changes to our investment and 
risk management procedures that we 
have put in place since January 2009. 
In general during the year hedge fund 
investors remained focused on liquidity 
and size and tended to shy away from 
sectors perceived as cyclical.  For the 
most part funds flows in the industry in 
2010 favoured larger groups managing 
above $5 billion rather than groups of 
our size. This climate, coupled with a 
realistic assessment of the difficulties 
experienced by the firm in 2008, made 
it apparent to us that a quick return 
to organic growth in our business was 
unlikely. We therefore concluded that a 
change in the shape of our operations 
to reflect the more challenging 
circumstances in the industry was the 
best option by which we could return 
to profitability, maintain our focus on 
delivering good risk adjusted returns for 
investors and position the business for 
a more gradual growth profile over the 
years ahead.

As a result we have streamlined our 
offering to focus on a core suite of 
funds.  We closed five strategies that we 
judged were too small, too volatile or 
offered investors insufficiently attractive 
returns to prosper. In so doing we have 
streamlined our business by reducing 
staff levels by over 30% since the 
beginning of 2010; our non staff cost 

base has also been 
considerably reduced 
through a thorough 
review of the costs 
and efficiency of 
our operations and 
third party services. 
Throughout this 
exercise we have 
been very conscious 
to preserve the 
improvements to our 
risk management 
and governance 
processes that we have 

established since the end of 2008 and 
to maintain an excellent investment 
capability supported by a first class 
operating platform.

The table below sets out our offering 
to investors following the Group’s 
restructuring, divided into funds centred 
around natural resources and funds 
centred around the European markets. 
The Company also maintains a small 
fund of funds. The table sets out the 
performance of each fund within each 
group.

Within our Natural Resources group, 
RAB Energy was an outstanding 
performer in 2010, topping several 
league tables and, in February 2011, 
winning the EuroHedge Award for 
best Global Equity Fund in 2010. 
The fund has continued to exploit the 
asymmetrical risk return characteristics 
offered by small and midsized oil and 
gas companies undertaking high impact 
drilling programmes over the year, 
and the managers of the fund have 
displayed skill both in the selection and 
timing of their individual investments 

as well as in hedging the fund so as to 
dampen the volatility of the portfolio. 
RAB Octane also performed well.  The 
outlook for small and mid-cap oil and 
gas companies in 2011 looks extremely 
robust. The background of strengthening 
oil prices and equity markets has 
enabled these companies to rebuild 
their balance sheets thus facilitating 
an active drilling programme which is 
the lifeblood of the sector. RAB Global 
Mining and Resources also had a 
successful year in 2010, outperforming 
particularly volatile markets in the first 
half of the year through adept hedging 
in the various downdrafts the sector 
experienced during that period, which 
left it well placed to take advantage of 
strong markets in the second half. 

RAB Special Situations has continued 
to restructure its portfolio in order 
to generate the liquidity that may be 
necessary to meet redemptions when the 
fund reopens later this year; the scale of 
these redemptions will be known in April. 
We believe that the current environment 
continues to yield some exceptional 
value opportunities in the listed early 
stage natural resources space and once 
the future shape of the fund is clear 
we look forward to taking advantage 
of those opportunities on behalf of 
investors who choose to remain invested 
in the strategy.

Within our European group, RAB Europe 
had a mixed year, faltering in May but 
recovering well over the rest of the year. 
In December a new team of managers 
joined RAB and is now managing 
this strategy, as well as continuing to 
manage the Polaris Prime Europe Fund, 
a fund which the team brought into the 

AUM and Strategy performance for the twelve months to 31 December 2010
Natural Resources 
(AUM:$816 million)

RAB Energy Fund 46.58%
RAB Octane Fund 24.73%
RAB Special Situations Fund -7.59%
RAB Global Mining and Resources Fund 22.84%

Europe 
(AUM:$225 million)

RAB Europe Fund -3.10%
RAB European Credit Opportunities Fund 9.48%
RAB Cross Europe Fund 0.14%

Fund of Funds  
(AUM: $18 million)

RAB External Managers Fund 2.54%

Michael Alen-Buckley and Charles Kirwan-Taylor.
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Company on their arrival and which 
will be run in parallel with RAB Europe. 
Our new team has an admirable long 
term record and we believe they will 
offer good risk adjusted returns going 
forward; we regard this as a very 
positive development for the funds, and 
for RAB itself. 

RAB European Credit Opportunities 
had another good year in 2010 
following the very good year it enjoyed 
in 2009. Despite low European merger 
and acquisition activity, RAB Cross 
Europe managed to achieve its twelfth 
consecutive year of profitable trading.  
The market outlook for these funds 
remains encouraging. 

Assets under management 
(“AUM”)

AUM at the year end amounted to 
$1.06 billion (2009: $1.35 billion).  
This reduction in AUM in the year 
included $124 million in discontinued 
strategies and $53 million in redemption 
classes repaid to investors.  The 
remainder of the change in AUM can 
be attributed to a reduction in the funds 
managed within the Company’s fund 
of funds following a large repatriation 
of capital by a European bank in the 
summer of 2010 (as noted in our 
interim report) and to a decline in the 
value of RAB Special Situations, offset 
in part by modest inflows in the second 
half of the year and performance in 
our more successful funds, notably 
RAB Energy and RAB European Credit 
Opportunities.  The AUM at the year 
end included $19 million in redemption 
classes which have since been repaid; 
no further redemption classes remain 
outstanding.

Over the last several months the 
Company has intensified its marketing 
activities so as to communicate to clients 
the changes that have been made over 
the last two years and to ensure that the 
performance and characteristics of the 
funds managed by the Group are well 
understood.  We believe that this effort 
is now beginning to be recognised. 
In February 2011 we launched a new 

UCITS version of our European strategy, 
the RAB Prime Europe UCITS Fund on 
the SEB Prime Solutions platform.  We 
expect shortly to launch two other UCITS 
funds within our Natural Resources 
group of funds. We are encouraged by 
the opportunities available to UCITS 
strategies and by the prospects for both 
these funds and more generally for the 
other funds within our stable. 

Financial performance 

The Group reported a loss after tax of 
£19.4 million compared with a loss 
after tax last year of £3.1 million.  The 
Board recognises that this performance 
is unsatisfactory and has taken steps to 
reduce costs significantly as we mention 
above, the benefits of which will be seen 
in 2011.  Further details of the financial 
performance are shown in the Business 
Review.

Dividend

The Board propose a final dividend of 
0.10p per Ordinary share to be paid 
on 4 May 2011 (2009: second interim 
0.50p), making the total dividend for the 
year of 0.20p per share (2009: 1.10p).

Outlook and strategy

The Group’s results for 2010 were 
clearly unsatisfactory and we have 
taken significant steps to restructure 
the business.  We enter 2011 in better 
shape to meet the future than we have 
been in at any time since the credit crisis 
in 2008. As the year turned our AUM 
were broadly the same as they had been 
when we set out on our restructuring 
in September as the assets lost in fund 
closures have been replaced by organic 
growth and inflows across our more 
successful funds. Our cost structure 
is now much more appropriate for a 
business of our size and we believe 
the current market will favour many of 
our most successful strategies which 
offers an encouraging outlook for our 
revenues.  We are both encouraged 
by the recent investor response to the 
performance and positioning of our 
offering and excited by the possibilities 

offered by the UCITS versions of the 
funds we have mentioned here.

We do face some challenges this year, 
not least the resumption of redemptions 
within RAB Special Situations and we 
are realistic about the impact that 
this may have on the level of our 
assets.  However,  the impact that 
these redemptions may have on the 
overall profitability of the Group may be 
mitigated by the return to standard fee 
arrangements. Our strategy is to focus 
on those areas of our activity where we 
can demonstrate a successful record 
of investment on behalf of our clients 
and to build out those areas through 
a strong and consistent marketing 
effort to service our existing clients well 
and so as to expand the scope of our 
client base where possible. At the same 
time we may consider the launch of 
complementary strategies which either 
reinforce or fill out the Group’s offering 
to investors. We believe our fund 
management teams, governance and 
risk control, operational infrastructure 
and the professional teams supporting 
our business are first class and we 
are optimistic that these qualities will 
serve us well as we seek to rebuild the 
business.

We would like to conclude by thanking 
our investors and shareholders for their 
continued support and our employees 
for their hard work in 2010.

Michael Alen-Buckley
Executive Chairman

Charles Kirwan-Taylor
Chief Executive

15 March 2011
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4 Business review

Financial review
The results for the year ended 
December 2010 reflect the need for a 
transformation of the Group’s business, 
which we undertook in the second half. 
We closed a number of unprofitable 
strategies, and reduced our costs, 
maintaining emphasis on marketing to 
drive sales and to prepare for new UCITS 
product launches. 

Income statement
The Group’s operating loss before 
taxation, amortisation, impairments and 
restructuring costs was £11.4 million 
(2009: £6.4 million).  This reflects 
a significant reduction in gains on 
available-for-sale financial assets and a 
reduction in revenue while costs reduced 
year on year.  The loss after taxation 
was £19.4 million (2009: £3.1 million) 
after taking impairments of goodwill 
and deferred acquisition costs and 
restructuring costs of £8.4 million (2009: 
nil).

The reduction in revenue in the year of 
15% from the prior year to £11.9 million 
(2009: £13.9 million) reflects lower 
management fees of £9.2 million (2009: 
£10.7 million) from the fall in AUM over 
the year and a reduction in performance 
fees to £2.4 million (2009: £2.8 million). 

Prospectively, the percentage of AUM 
at or close to its high water mark is 
increasing as fund performance moves 
the net asset values towards previous 
highs and new assets are absorbed into 
successful strategies.  Performance fees 

are typically only payable on an increase 
in net asset values above the highest level 
the fund has previously achieved or the 
value at which a new investor enters the 
fund. 

In addition to the above, the Group 
incurred net losses of £0.4 million 
on available-for-sale financial assets 
(2009: gain £3.3 million). Exceptional 
charges were taken this year relating 
to restructuring of the business and 
impairment of goodwill and deferred 
acquisition costs of £8.4 million (2009: 
nil). 

Fixed costs, including amortisation of 
intangible assets, fell to £17.7 million 
from £19.3 million due to continued 
operational improvements and a focus 
on increased efficiency. Variable incentive 
compensation charges rose marginally to 
£5.8 million (2009: £5.7 million). 

The tax credit this year is £0.8 million 
(2009: credit £3.9 million). In 2010, the 
credit excludes a significant proportion 
of the potential future benefits of 
accumulated tax losses.  2009 was 
unusual as it included adjustments in 
respect to prior periods largely relating to 
the reversal of tax charges and increased 
recognition of tax credits on disposals of 
available-for-sale financial assets.  

RAB has made an adjusted free cash 
loss after tax of £8.2 million in the year 
ended 31 December 2010. The table 
below shows the split between accounting 
loss adjusted for non-cash items such 
as assets impairments, depreciation and 
intangible asset amortisation and share 
incentivisation related costs and adjusted 
for non-recurring restructuring costs.

Balance Sheet

RAB has continued to maintain a strong 
balance sheet with over £81 million in 
net current assets and available-for-sale 
financial assets at the year end (2009: 
£98 million). The sum of available-
for-sale financial assets fell during 
the year from £47.3 million to £40.9 
million primarily due to disposals and 
impairments. The significant majority of 
the Group’s holdings in available-for-
sale financial assets are investments in 
funds managed by RAB, including an 
uncrystallised net gain of £1.9 million 
(2009: £1.2 million). 

Group net assets at the end of 2010 
were £85.6 million compared to £107.3 
million at the beginning of the year, 
reflecting the fact that the Group spent 
£0.5 million repurchasing shares and 
paid £2.8 million in dividends during 
the year, with movements in reserves 
accounting for the remainder.

Shareholder returns

The Group’s policy is to pay dividends 
and to vary the size of the dividend to 
reflect the financial performance of the 
Group. The Board has considered the 
current market environment and the 
financial performance of the Group 
in the current year in determining the 
level of the dividend. Accordingly, the 
Board has decided to recommend a 
final dividend of 0.10p per share. The 
total dividend for the full year amounts 
to 0.20p per share (2009: 1.10p). In 
view of the financial performance of the 
Group, the Board felt that a reduction 
in the total dividend is appropriate.  The 
dividend policy will be kept under review 

Adam Grant

A
Adjusted free cash loss after tax 2010 

£000s
2009 

£000s
Operating loss before taxation  (20,196) (6,949)
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets  1,570 812
Impairment of intangible assets  4,150  -
Amortisation of intangible assets  370 494
Impairment of tangible assets 177  -
Depreciation of tangible assets 1,093 825
Share based payments charge 520 307
Taxation 831 3,852
Free cash loss after taxation (11,485) (659)
Onerous lease provision 556  -
Redundancy and related costs 2,755  -
Adjusted free cash loss after taxation (8,174) (659)
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in light of the Group’s performance and 
the strength of the balance sheet. 

During the year the Group bought back 
3.6 million Ordinary shares for total 
consideration of £0.5 million. Both the 
Group and Company continue to be 
well capitalised and the Board remains 
confident about the future of the business.

Risk management 

The Group takes a cautious and pro-
active approach to risk management 
and takes its governance and risk 
management obligations very seriously 
and has put in place an infrastructure 
that aims to deliver standards 
consistent with these obligations. Its 
key components comprise the initial 
establishment and closure of a fund, fund 
governance, regulation of the relevant 
management company, independent 
fund administration, independent 
prime brokers and custodians, external 
fund audits, and a risk management 
framework setting out internal 
governance and controls.  The Board 
reviews the Group’s key risks and how 
they are managed and reported.

The Group’s risk landscape has been 
simplified by the rationalisation of its 
offering. Notwithstanding this, the Group 
continues to develop its risk management 
systems and has modified its processes 
to elevate the level and frequency of 
engagement of the Group’s risk team 
with each investment strategy. 

Regulation

RAB has two operating companies, 
London-based RAB Capital plc and 
Hong Kong-based RAB Capital (Asia) 
Limited, which are regulated by the 
Financial Services Authority (“FSA”) and 
the Securities and Futures Commission 
(“SFC”) respectively. As such the Group is 
subject to the conduct of business rules, 
compliance requirements and minimum 
capital standards of those bodies.

RAB is also admitted to listing on the 
Alternative Investment Market of the 
London Stock Exchange and is subject 
to the disclosure requirements and 
governance processes that this status 
demands.

Risk framework
The Executive Committee has resolved 
that the appropriate governing body 
for the risk framework of the Group 
is the Investment and Risk Committee 
(“IRC”).  However, formal ratification 
and approval of group risk control is 
performed by the Board.
The IRC empowers the business to be 
entrepreneurial and to take on risk 
actively; however, risk must be fully 
understood and adequately measured 
to ensure that the risk exposure is 
appropriate for the returns anticipated, 
and is consistent with the Group’s 
long-term goals and obligations to 
its stakeholders.  The objective is 
to safeguard the assets both of the 
Group and its clients, whilst allowing 
sufficient operating freedom to secure 
a satisfactory return.  The IRC reports 
to the Board on the management of 
investment risks.  
The Group’s ‘Statement of Risk Appetite’ 
defines the level and nature of risks to 
which senior management considers 
it is acceptable to expose the Group. 
It therefore defines the boundaries of 
activity that the Board intends for the 
firm.  The Board sets and approves 
annually risk appetite statements for all 
areas of actual or potential significant 
risk to the business. Adherence to these 
risk appetites is monitored on a regular 
basis and is part of the overarching risk 
management framework operating within 
the Group. 

Principal risks
The Group’s principal risks are 
considered to be operational risk, 
employee risk and business risk.   
The Group is also exposed to credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising 
from the assets and liabilities on its 
balance sheet, particularly the Group’s 
investments in available-for-sale financial 
assets.      

Operational risk
Operational risk is the potential for 
economic loss and/or reputational dam-
age due to a serious error or failure of 
operations. The Group has implemented 
an operational risk framework designed 
to monitor and assess operational risks 
across the business.   

Operational risk is further managed 
through organisational and financial 
controls. The controls of each department 
have been assessed by managers who 
have sufficient experience to determine 
key risks within their department.  These 
assessments are reviewed and challenged 
by senior management to gain assurance 
that controls are appropriate and 
operating effectively. 

If losses are incurred through specified 
risks the Group has insurance to mitigate 
the cost of any such loss. The insurance 
policy will only be activated in the event 
of a serious control failure or significant 
unforeseen circumstances. The following 
operational risk areas are insured: 
professional indemnity and fraud, 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, 
business interruption and employer’s and 
public liability.

Employee risk
In common with most businesses, the 
Group’s employees are essential to its 
continued growth and success. The ability 
to attract, retain and develop talented 
people is vital for delivering stakeholder 
value and also for managing the other 
principal risks. 

The Group offers competitive 
remuneration packages to employees, 
including a discretionary bonus scheme. 
All staff receive training to ensure 
competence in their role and receive 
performance appraisals.  Controls over 
the recruitment process are also critical 
to minimising employee risks.

Business risk 
The Group’s income is largely derived 
from managing investors’ assets. Fund 
managers make investment decisions 
with the aim of delivering good returns 
over time whilst managing the investment 
risk of each fund. Business risk is the risk 
that sustained poor performance and 
conditions in global markets negatively 
affect investment sentiment and ultimately 
the Group’s core income stream. 

In aggregate the RAB funds are exposed 
to the global equity, credit and fixed 
income markets. The firm is also exposed 
to the risk of redemptions undermining 
the earnings base of the business.
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The governance processes that are 
followed for the management of 
investment risk in the funds are intended 
to follow a cycle that commences 
with limit setting, continues through 
oversight of fund/risk management, 
and concludes with a process of regular 
informed enquiry.  Each strategy will 
have a limit structure put in place that 
will address many tighter constraints than 
those imposed by the relevant fund’s 
prospectus.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss 
to the Group if the counterparty to 
a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligation, and arises 
principally from fees due from funds and 
deposits placed with financial institutions. 
Fees due from funds are continually 
reviewed to ensure timely collection of 
amounts due. 

Credit risk associated with cash and 
cash equivalents is managed by placing 
all deposits with banks or financial 
institutions with a long-term credit 
rating of ‘A’ (according to Moody’s and 
Standard & Poors) or higher. No more 
that one third of the Group’s cash is 
placed with any single institution of credit 
rating ‘AA’ or higher and no more than 
one quarter is placed with any institution 
with a single ‘A’ credit rating.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group 
will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations from its financial liabilities.

The Group’s approach to managing 
liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 

when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the Group’s reputation.

The Group maintains a portfolio of 
short-term deposits across a range 
of financial institutions to ensure that 
sufficient liquidity is maintained within the 
Group as a whole.  The liquidity position 
is monitored on a daily basis and the 
month end position is included in the 
management information presented to 
the Board.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in 
market prices, such as interest rates, 
foreign exchange and equity prices, 
affect the Group’s income and/or the 
value of certain assets. RAB’s primary 
exposure to interest rates is in relation to 
cash on deposit.  The Group’s exposure 
to market risk stems primarily from 
fees being earned predominantly in US 
Dollars and Euros and from its holdings 
in available-for-sale financial assets. To 
manage foreign exchange risk all non-
Sterling revenues are usually converted 
to Sterling promptly on receipt and 
forward foreign exchange contracts are 
sometimes used to hedge non-Sterling 
debtors.

Industry best practices
Consistent with the goal of setting high 
operating standards RAB was an original 
member of the UK/European based 
Hedge Fund Working Group, which 
initiated and established the Hedge Fund 
Standards Board (“HFSB”) best practice 
standards. RAB was also a founder 
signatory to the HFSB Standards and 
makes an annual declaration in respect 
of conformity of these standards. 

Regulatory capital
From 1 January 2008, the Group fully 
adopted the new FSA rules, which 
implement the Capital Requirements 
Directive (“CRD”) and prescribe a 
minimum capital requirement. For 
regulated limited licence investment firms 
the minimum capital requirement is the 
higher of:

�� base capital requirement of €50,000; 
or

�� the fixed overhead requirement; or

�� the credit risk requirement and market 
risk requirement.

The base capital requirement for RAB 
has reduced during the year from 
€125,000 to €50,000 as the Group 
has relinquished its permission for client 
money activities.  

The Group manages its capital to ensure 
that all entities within the Group are able 
to operate as going concerns and exceed 
any minimum externally imposed capital 
requirements.  The Group also maintains 
sufficient capital to allow investment 
to seed or promote funds managed by 
the Group, or make strategic business 
investments.  As a minimum the Group 
seeks to hold enough cash and cash 
equivalents to cover its FSA imposed 
fixed overhead requirement and working 
capital requirement together with a 
capital cushion.

Group’s regulatory capital posi-
tion
At 31 December 2010 the Group 
had regulatory capital resources of 
£81.5 million (2009: £98.6 million), 
significantly in excess of its minimum 
requirement of £7.2 million (2009: 
£10.3 million).  The reduction in 
regulatory capital resources is in part 
as a result of £3.3 million returned to 
shareholders through dividends and 
share buy backs.   

Adam Grant

Finance Director and Chief 
Operating Officer
15 March 2011

Business review (continued)

G

Group’s regulatory capital position Group
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent  85,602 107,258 

Less goodwill and other intangibles
 Goodwill   (3,925)  (8,075) 
 Other intangible assets   -  (370) 

Material holdings deduction
 Investment in Prestige Asset Management Co., Ltd  (158)  (215) 
Capital Resources  81,519  98,598 
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Philip Richards
Executive Director (50)
Philip co-founded the Company 
in 1999.  He stepped down as the 
Chief Executive Officer in September 
2008. He is the Investment Manager 
of the RAB Special Situations and 
RAB Global Mining and Resources 
strategies.  From 1987 to 1998, 
Philip was an executive director of Smith New Court Europe. 
After its acquisition by Merrill Lynch in 1995, he became a 
Managing Director of Merrill Lynch Investment Banking.

Michael Alen-Buckley
Executive Chairman (53)
Michael co-founded the Company in 
1999 as Executive Chairman. He was 
a director and head of international 
equity sales at ABN-AMRO Hoare 
Govett from 1996 to 1998 and prior 
to that director of institutional sales at 
Merrill Lynch (previously Smith New 
Court) from 1991 to 1996.  Between 1987 and 1991 he was 
a senior executive for UK equity sales at James Capel & Co.  
He was also a founding member of the Hedge Fund Working 
Group.

Charles Kirwan-Taylor
Chief Executive (52)
Charles joined the Company in 
March 2008 and was appointed 
Director of Sales in June 2008.  
He was appointed to the Board in 
September 2008 and in December 
that year he became the Group’s 
Chief Investment Officer. He was 
appointed Chief Executive in September 2010. Charles has 
significant investment banking and capital market experience 
and co-founded Greyshrike Capital LLP in 2006.  Between 
2001 and 2003 he was head of European equity capital 
markets at CSFB and became chairman of UK corporate 
broking at Credit Suisse in 2005.  Before joining Credit Suisse 
he was a managing director at BZW. 

Christopher de Mattos
Executive Director (52) 
Christopher joined the Company in 
1999 and was Finance Director from 
July 2001 to April 2007.  He was 
previously head of equity research 
for ABN-AMRO in Argentina from 
January 1997 to April 1999 and 
managed telecommunications 
research across the Latin American region.  From 1994 to the 
end of 1996 he was deputy head of European research at 
ABN-AMRO.

Directors’ profiles
Executive Directors

Adam Grant
Finance Director and Chief 
Operating Officer (49)
Adam, a Chartered Accountant, 
joined the Company in June 2009 
and assumed the responsibilities 
of Finance Director and Chief 
Operating Officer. He was appointed 
an executive Director in November 
2009. Prior to joining the Company, Adam was group finance 
director of Noble Group and had previously held senior 
positions in Morgan Stanley.
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Philip Moore
Non-executive Director (51)
Philip joined the Board in December 
2009 and has been appointed 
Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
He is group finance director of 
Liverpool Victoria Friendly Society.  
He was formally group finance 
partner and chief risk officer with 
Pension Corporation.  Previous roles include, group chief 
executive and group finance director of Friends Provident, at 
AMP, corporate director of finance following the acquisition 
of NPI where he was finance director and actuary, and, at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, responsibility for the East Asia 
insurance consultancy practice based in Hong Kong. 

Xavier Coirbay
Non-executive Director (45)
Xavier joined the Board in May 
2006 and is a member of the Audit 
Committee.   He is a senior executive 
of Sofina, a significant shareholder of 
the Company.  He is responsible for 
a diversified portfolio of private equity 
funds in the US and Europe as well as 
Sofina’s interests in alternative investments. He is also the head 
of operations.  Before joining Sofina he spent three years as a 
financial analyst at Fortis Group.  He is also a non-executive 
director of B & W Group Limited.

The Rt Hon Lord Lamont  
of Lerwick

Non-executive Director (68) 
The Rt Hon Lord Norman Lamont 
joined the Board in April 2004 
and is a member of the Audit 
and Remuneration Committees, 
and Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee.  He was Chancellor of 
the Exchequer from 1990 to 1993.  Prior to his appointment, 
he was Chief Secretary to the Treasury between 1989 and 
1990.  He was made a life peer in 1998.  He has been 
director of various companies including NM Rothschild and 
Sons.   He is currently a director of Jupiter Adria, Balli Group 
and Phorm Inc. 

Derek Riches

Non-executive Director (67) 
Derek joined the Board in April 2004.  
He is a member of the Nomination 
and Audit Committees, and Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee.  He 
started his career at Smith Brothers in 
1959, becoming a partner in 1969. 
He was appointed a director after 
incorporation of the business as Smith New Court plc in 1985.  
He held the position of managing director of Merrill Lynch 
Broker Services from 1995 when the company was acquired by 
Merrill Lynch until his retirement in 1999.  He was non-executive 
chairman of Equity Development between 1999 and 2003 and 
non-executive deputy chairman of Equity Holdings.

Non-executive Directors
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2010. The parts of the Business Review and 
Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s Statement referred to below 
form part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal activities and business review 

RAB Capital plc (the “Company”) is the parent company of 
a specialist investment management group (the “Group”), 
and is registered in England and Wales, Company Number 
03694213. 

A review of 2010, together with likely future developments, is 
contained in the Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s Statement on 
pages 2 and 3 and in the Business Review on pages 4 to 6.

Results and dividends

The loss for the year to 31 December 2010 attributable to 
shareholders was £19.4 million, compared with a loss of £3.1 
million in 2009.  The Directors propose the payment of a final 
dividend of 0.10p per ordinary share  (2009: second interim 
0.50p) amounting to £0.5 million (2009: £2.4 million), making 
a total for the year of 0.20p per Ordinary share (2009: 1.10p ). 

Capital structure 

The capital structure of the Company is detailed in Note 21 on 
pages 40 and 41. 

During the year the Directors exercised the authority granted 
by shareholders to make market purchases of Ordinary shares, 
buying back a total of 3,611,000 shares  (2009: 9,315,065) 
at an average price of 12.6p per share (2009: 13.3p). During 
the year 30,000,000 shares held in treasury were cancelled 
and at the end of the year there were 6,313,643 shares held in 
treasury (2009: 32,762,643).  At 28 February 2011 there were 
7,321,756 shares held in treasury.

Directors 

Biographies of the Directors who hold office at the date of this 
report are set out on pages 8 and 9.  Charles Kirwan-Taylor 
was appointed Chief Executive in place of Stephen Couttie who 
resigned as a Director with effect from 2 September 2010.  

At the AGM on 28 April 2011, Michael Alen-Buckley, Philip 
Richards and Christopher de Mattos will retire by rotation 
in accordance with article 54 of the Company Articles of 
Association.  All three, being eligible, will offer themselves for 
re-election.  The biographical details and responsibilities of all 
the Directors seeking re-election can be found on page 8.  The 
re-elections are all supported by the Board. 

Directors’ share interests

The interests of the Directors in the Company’s shares are 
detailed in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 
16 to 18. 

Material contracts 

None of the Directors had an interest in any contract with the 
Company or its subsidiaries during or at the end of the year. 

Donations 

Charitable payments made during the year amounted to 
£0.18 million (2009: £0.90 million). This includes an amount 
of £0.11 million (2009: £0.77 million) paid in 2010 by the 
Company from emoluments for 2009 waived by Directors and 
employees, none of which related to the highest paid Director 
(2009: £nil). No political payments were made during the year 
(2009: £nil).

Creditor payment policy

The Company does not follow any code or standard on 
payment practice, but seeks to agree the terms of payment with 
the suppliers at the time of contract, and to make payment in 
accordance with those terms subject to satisfactory performance. 
As at 31 December 2010 the average creditor days were 
9 (2009: 37 days). Historically a substantial amount of the 
year end trade payables balance has arisen on the last day 
of the year from commissions payable on management and 
performance fees; adjusting for this the creditor days become 7 
(2009: 20).

Significant shareholdings 

As at 28 February 2011, the following interests of 3% or more 
had been disclosed to the Company for the purposes of Part 5 
of the FSA’s Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules:  

 
 
 
Notifier

 
No. of 

Ordinary 
Shares

Percentage 
of voting 

rights 
represented1

Whether 
rights directly 

or indirectly 
held

Philip Richards 132,000,000 28.12% direct
Michael Alen-Buckley2 100,059,900 21.31% direct
Santino Global Assets Limited 51,672,036 11.01% direct
Sofina S.A. 49,418,403 10.53% direct

1Voting rights attaching to the Company’s issued share capital are calculated 
according to the 476,784,891 Ordinary shares in issue at 28 February 2011, less 
shares held in treasury.  
259,900 Ordinary shares held non-beneficially. 

Change of control 

The provisions of the Company’s share option schemes may 
cause options granted to employees to vest in the event of a 
takeover situation.

Corporate social responsibility 

The Board believes that responsible and ethical conduct is 
fundamental to the Group’s everyday business activities, and 
considers Corporate Social Responsibility as a set of principles 
that assist in determining business practices. The Board does not 
determine the Corporate Social Responsibility practices of the 
RAB funds, as this is driven by the fund’s board of directors and 
the appetite of investors. 

Directors’ report
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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The extent to which individual principles have been formalised is 
appropriate to the size of the Group. Specific practices include:

�� responsible waste management – currently approximately 
50% of regular waste is recycled with the remainder being 
used in ‘waste-to-power’ schemes;

�� improving the energy efficiency of Group offices, including 
improving thermal insulation and temperature stability. RAB 
is restricted in this regard as the London office is situated in 
a conservation area;

�� responsible procurement, all office paper is either recycled 
or certified by the Forest Stewardship Council. Office 
refreshments include Fairtrade products;

�� the Group provides a mechanism which encourages 
employees to sacrifice an element of any potential 
discretionary bonus to charity; and

�� the Group operates a work experience programme for 
students.

The Group is committed to conducting business with the 
highest standards of honesty and integrity and expects the same 
standards from employees, which include:

�� personal account trading in securities is regulated and 
monitored to ensure that no conflicts of interest arise;

�� staff are not allowed to solicit or accept inducements which 
would conflict with their duties to clients; and

�� RAB’s whistle-blowing policy seeks to encourage the 
reporting of genuine concerns about possible serious 
malpractice, such as dishonesty, false accounting, criminal 
acts, activities which pose a danger to the health and safety 
of people, damage to the environment or a breach of legal 
or regulatory obligations. 

Employees 

RAB is committed to equal opportunities and diversity. Employee 
recruitment methods are regularly reviewed and are strictly 
geared to identify candidates who have personal integrity and the 
best experience and skills for the job. Appropriate consideration 
is given to disabled persons in applications for employment, 
having regard to their aptitudes and abilities. For the purposes 
of training and career development, disabled persons (including 
those who become disabled during the course of their 
employment) are treated on equal terms with other employees. 
The Group is committed to ensuring the health, safety and 
welfare of employees, customers, suppliers and visitors.

Auditor 

KPMG Audit Plc has agreed to offer itself for re-appointment 
as the Company’s Auditor.  Resolutions requesting approval of 
the Auditor’s reappointment and to authorise the Directors to 
determine the Auditor’s remuneration will be presented at the 
AGM.

Provision of information to the Company’s Auditor 

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this 
Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
Auditor is unaware; and that each Director has taken all the 
steps that he ought to have taken as a Director to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s Auditor is aware of that information.

Annual general meeting 

The Annual General Meeting will be held at the Company’s 
Registered Office, 1 Adam Street, London WC2N 6LE, at 
12 noon on 28 April 2011.  The Notice of Meeting contains 
a description of business to be conducted at the meeting, 
including renewal of the authority for the Company to buy back 
its own shares and a waiver of the obligation which would 
otherwise arise on Michael Alen-Buckley and Philip Richards 
as members of the Concert party, and Philip Richards in his 
individual capacity, for the purposes of Rule 9 of the Takeover 
Code in relation to such buybacks.  Details of all the resolutions 
are explained in the Notice of Meeting circular enclosed 
separately with this report.

By Order of the Board

Adam Grant
Finance Director and Chief Operating Officer
15 March 2011
1 Adam Street
London
WC2N 6LE
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Corporate governance report
for the year ended 31 December 2010

RAB’s status as an AIM-listed Company means that it is not 
required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code.  
However, as stated in the Company’s prospectus on admission 
to trading dated 16 March 2004, the Directors support best 
practice in Corporate Governance and its practical application 
to the Company’s structure and decision-making process 
as appropriate to the Company’s size and current stage of 
development.  Accordingly this report sets out the governance 
structure and developments in this sphere during the year.

Board performance evaluation 
The Board undertook a review of its own performance.  This 
review was carried out internally whereby all the directors 
completed questionnaires and the findings were discussed at 
a board meeting.  The Board Committees have carried out 
similar reviews and where directors identified specific needs 
through the evaluation process training has been available.  

The Board of Directors 
The Board currently consists of five executive and four non-
executive Directors. Changes during the year are shown in 
the Directors’ Report on page 10 and the biographies of the 
Directors are shown on pages 8 and 9. 

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that one third 
(or the nearest to one third) of the Directors who have been 
longest in office will be required to retire and offer themselves 
for re-election at each AGM. At the AGM on 28 April 2011, 
Michael Alen-Buckley, Philip Richards and Christopher de 
Mattos will each retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election. The re-elections are all supported by the Board.  
The Company is aware of the provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code concerning the re-election of directors 
annually.  RAB’s directors traditionally retire every three years 
and we see that as reasonable and practical for an AIM listed 
company.   

The role and business of the Board 
The Board provides overall strategic direction to management 
and has a schedule of matters reserved entirely for its 
decision, a copy of which is available on the Company’s 
website. Matters that are reserved for the Board are generally 
forwarded to it for consideration with a recommendation from 
the Executive, Nomination, Remuneration or Audit Committees 
as appropriate. 

The Board is responsible for:

�� setting the Company’s strategic aims;
�� ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources 
are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;
�� monitoring the operating and financial results against plans 
and budgets;
�� reviewing the performance of management;
�� prioritising the allocation of capital, technical and human 
resources;

�� assessing the adequacy of risk management systems;

�� setting the Company’s values and standards; and

�� ensuring that the Company’s obligations to its shareholders 
and others are understood and met.

Board and committee meeting attendance 

Board meetings are held every two months, and ad hoc 
meetings are held as deemed necessary.  A schedule showing 
the attendees at scheduled Board and Committee meetings by 
the directors in office at 31 December 2010 is shown below. 
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Scheduled meetings 6 4 3 1 11

Michael Alen-Buckley 6 - - 1 11
Xavier Coirbay 6 4 - - -
Christopher de Mattos 6 - - - 11
Adam Grant 6 - - - 11
Charles Kirwan-Taylor 6 - - - 11
Lord Lamont 6 4 3 1 -
Philip Moore 6 4 - - -
Philip Richards 5 - - - 10
Derek Riches 5 2 3 1 -

Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee, chaired by Michael Alen-Buckley, 
comprises all the executive Directors.  The Board has 
delegated the following responsibilities to the Committee, 
which meets monthly:

��  the development and recommendation of strategic plans 
for consideration by the Board that reflect the longer-term 
objectives and priorities established by the Board;

��  implementation of the strategies and policies of the Group 
as determined by the Board;

��  monitoring the quality of the investment process against 
objectives; and

��  developing and implementing risk management systems.

The Executive Committee has formally delegated the 
responsibility for oversight of all business and operational risk 
within the firm to the Investment and Risk Committee.  

Each Director is aware of the risks inherent in the Group’s 
business and understands the importance of identifying and 
evaluating these risks. The Board has adopted procedures and 
controls that enable it to manage these risks and has adopted 
appropriate management systems and controls designed 
to ensure the Company meets its legal and regulatory 
obligations.

The Board is aware of its duty to present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Group’s position, which 
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would include the publication of interim and annual reports. 
It regularly reviews financial statements to consider whether 
a going-concern basis for their preparation is appropriate. 
The Board’s assessment of the Group’s position as at 31 
December 2010 is set out in Note 1(A) on page 27 in notes  
to the financial statements.

Board committees 

The Board delegates specific responsibilities to the Audit, 
Remuneration, Nomination and Executive Committees, whose 
terms of reference, duties and responsibilities have been 
agreed and adopted by the Board, all of which are available 
on the Company’s website or from the Company Secretary. 
The Chairman of each Board committee reports to the Board 
on matters considered and significant issues arising at the 
next Board meeting following that of the Committee. Directors 
receive copies of the minutes of all Committee meetings. 

The Nomination Committee comprises the Rt Hon Lord Lamont 
(Chairman), Derek Riches and Michael Alen-Buckley. The 
Committee is responsible for considering appointments to the 
Board and for succession planning. 

Internal controls and risk management 

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal 
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and 
risk management controls. Internal controls include the 
organisational structure and the delegation of authority within 
the Group. Such a system can provide only reasonable, and 
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 
loss, and will mitigate, not eliminate, risk. The maintenance 
of this control system rests with the Executive Committee and 
senior management, and is designed to manage risk to within 
acceptable limits. 

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has reviewed the 
effectiveness of internal controls and risk management during 
the year. In respect of the year ended 31 December 2010, 
the Board has concluded that there is in place a satisfactory 
process to identify, evaluate and manage risks within the 
business.

Directors’ conflicts of interest

In accordance with section 175 of the Companies Act 2006 
the Board has identified a schedule of all Directors’ actual 
and potential conflicts of interest.  The Board reviewed and 
approved the existing and potential conflicts of each Director 
as disclosed by them. The Board has resolved to review these 
conflicts and the process for their management on an annual 
basis.

Board information 

The Board receives both regular board reports and papers 
on other relevant issues prior to each meeting to allow it to 
perform its duties effectively.  It has received briefings from 

the Compliance Officer in relation to regulatory changes and 
has received advice on its responsibilities from its nominated 
adviser (“Nomad”) with whom regular communication is 
maintained on all relevant matters. 

The Company’s Nomad is Macquarie Capital (Europe) Limited 
(formerly Fox-Pitt Kelton Limited). 

Board induction 

There is a formal induction process for new Directors which 
includes the provision of a pack of relevant documents 
including the governance arrangements for the Company, key 
reports, and on-site scheduled meetings with members of staff 
in order to understand RAB’s business.  No new directors were 
appointed in 2010. 

Executive Chairman 

The role of Executive Chairman is separated from that of Chief 
Executive.  

The Executive Chairman leads the Board’s decision making 
process, oversees the Group’s business development on a 
day-to-day basis and maintains the ongoing relationships and 
dialogue with the Company’s shareholders and stakeholders.  

Chief Executive 

The Chief Executive is responsible for the overall management 
of the business, including the appointment of the senior 
management team, the Company’s strategic development and 
potential acquisitions.  

Executive Directors 

The roles of the executive Directors are detailed on page 8. 

Non-executive Directors 

The Board currently comprises four non-executive Directors 
who bring a depth of experience, knowledge and judgment 
to the Board’s deliberations, and have a regular active 
engagement with the Group’s executive management. The 
non-executive Directors are of sufficient calibre that their 
views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision making 
process.

For the purposes of the Code, Philip Moore and Derek 
Riches are deemed to be independent.  Lord Lamont, by 
virtue of options over Ordinary shares held, as disclosed in 
the Remuneration Committee Report on page 18 and Xavier 
Coirbay, by virtue of his representation of Sofina SA, a major 
shareholder of the Company, as disclosed in the Directors’ 
Report on page 10 are not deemed to be independent.

However, in the opinion of the Board, all the non-executive 
Directors bring an independence of thought and are otherwise 
free from any material business or other relationship that could  
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment.
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Support to the Board 

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the 
Chairman and the Board on matters of company law 
and governance.  All Directors have access through the 
Company Secretary to independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense. 

The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ liability 
insurance, which is reviewed annually to ensure that cover is 
maintained at an appropriate level. 

Relations with shareholders 

The Company’s website (www.rabcap.com) contains regularly 
updated information regarding the Group’s funds, copies 
of announcements, shareholder reports and other relevant 
information. Shareholder participation is also encouraged 
through the forum of the AGM.

By Order of the Board

Michael Alen-Buckley
Executive Chairman

15 March 2011

Corporate governance report (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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The Audit Committee currently comprises Philip Moore, The 
Rt Hon Lord Lamont, Derek Riches and Xavier Coirbay.  Philip 
Moore was appointed Chairman with effect from 21 January 
2010, assuming responsibility from Rt Hon Lord Lamont.  
Philip Moore and Derek Riches are deemed independent 
under the UK Corporate Governance Code.

The Committee is responsible for:

�� monitoring accounting policies and ensuring financial 
policies and controls are in place;

�� ensuring that auditing processes are properly coordinated 
and work effectively;

�� reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost 
effectiveness;

�� ensuring the independence and objectivity of the Auditor, 
including the nature and amount of non-audit work 
supplied by the Auditor;

�� reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the annual and 
interim financial statements and trading updates, before 
they are approved by the Board;

�� keeping under review the risk framework and the 
effectiveness of internal controls, policies and procedures 
for identifying and managing risks; and

�� monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal audit function in the context of the 
Company’s overall risk management system.

The full terms of reference of the Committee are available on 
the Company’s website and from the Company Secretary at 
the registered office. The Committee has direct access to the 
Auditor, and receives periodic reports from management and 
the Auditor on significant financial reporting issues. 

Only Committee members are entitled to attend Committee 
meetings along with the Company’s Auditors; however, the 
other Directors and Officers of the Company may also attend 
as appropriate at the Committee’s invitation.

During the year, the Committee met 4 times and considered 
the following main issues: 

�� the annual financial statements for 2009 and the interim 
financial statements for 2010;

�� the Auditor’s management letter and year end report;

�� the performance of the Auditor and the audit plan for 
2010;

�� the internal audit plan for 2011;

�� the adequacy of internal controls and risk management 
making such recommendations to the Board as it 
considered necessary to address any identified issues;

�� review of its own performance;

�� the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(“ICAAP”); and

�� conflicts of interest.

Additionally the Committee met privately with the Auditors, 
Chief Risk Officer, the Compliance Officer and Head of 
Internal Audit. 

There is a formal programme of issues to be discussed by 
the Committee each year, designed to ensure that all matters 
within its remit are reviewed each year. 

Philip Moore
Chairman of the Audit Committee

15 March 2011
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Remuneration committee report

The remuneration committee (the “Committee”) currently 
comprises Derek Riches (Chairman) and the Rt. Hon Lord 
Lamont. 

The Committee determines specific remuneration packages 
for each executive Director and for certain senior executives. It 
also addresses remuneration issues that affect the interests of 
shareholders, including share option plans and performance 
linked remuneration arrangements. The Committee’s full terms 
of reference are available on the Company’s website or by 
request to the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered 
office.

Remuneration Policy

The Company recognises the importance of ensuring that 
all key employees are appropriately incentivised and identify 
closely with the profitability of the Group and the interests 
of shareholders, and it seeks to enable the recruitment of 
high-quality investment managers with proven track records in 
focused investment strategies. 

Variable incentive compensation

The total cost of variable incentive compensation in 2010 was 
£5.8 million, which represents a small increase from the 2009 
cost of £5.7 million.  In considering the size of the overall 
bonus pool for 2010, the Committee has focused on both 
the operating income of the Group and the need to reflect 
competitive pressures.    

Compensation structure

The Committee continued to monitor evolving UK and EU 
legislation relating to remuneration in the financial services 
sector, including the provisions of the Financial Services Act 
2010 and Sir David Walker’s review of corporate governance.  
Prior to publication of the Committee of European Banking 
Supervisors’ “Guidelines on Remuneration Policies and 
Practices” and the FSA Policy Statement 10/20: “Revising 
the Remuneration Code” in December 2010, the Company 
participated in consultation with the FSA, both directly and 
through our trade body AIMA.  Following publication of 
those two documents, the Committee is comfortable that the 
Company is well placed to comply with both the letter and the 
spirit of the obligations set out in these documents.

The Committee has established a framework of compensation 
which reflects revenue generation, fund performance and profit 
generation.

During the year, the Committee considered bonuses and the 
grant of share options under the Company’s Unapproved 
Share Option Scheme. Towards the end of 2010, the 
Committee decided to offer staff a reduced number of new 
options to replace options which had been granted at prices 
of 40 pence and above, as these old options had ceased to 
provide the incentives that were originally intended. Details of 
the changes to options outstanding are shown in the notes to 
the accounts on page 32.

The Committee believes that the grant of options to senior 
employees and Directors is a valuable tool in aligning their 
interests with those of shareholders and can provide both 
reward for past performance and incentive for the future. 
With this in mind, at the beginning of 2011 the Committee 
awarded options to a number of key individuals to provide 
incentives for the coming year and beyond. The exercise of 
a large proportion of the options awarded to fund managers 
is conditional upon the achievement of specific performance 
targets.

In last year’s report we referred to the possibility of making 
awards of nominal cost options to a limited number of 
individuals.  It was subsequently decided that a one-off cash 
payment would be awarded instead supplemented where 
appropriate by a grant of options at an exercise price of 15p 
per share.  The cash sums paid to the Directors are shown in 
the table below under the heading “Other payments”.  

The Committee will consider making further awards of options 
under the Unapproved Share Option Scheme during 2011. 

As in previous years, the Committee also evaluated its own 
performance.

Executive Directors 

Executive Directors are employed under continuing contracts of 
employment terminable by either party on notice of up to one 
year.  

Each executive Director receives a basic salary, with an 
entitlement to consideration for a discretionary bonus, together 
with medical insurance, life and permanent health insurance.  
The Group does not operate a contributory company pension 
scheme.

Non-executive Directors 

The non-executive Directors have letters of appointment which 
set out the terms and conditions of their appointment and their 
expected time commitments.  In March 2011, Lord Lamont 
and Derek Riches each reached the end of their terms and 
their arrangements were extended for a further for a period 
of one year. Xavier Coirbay’s appointment term was renewed 
in May 2009 for a further three years.  Philip Moore was 
appointed for an initial three year term from December 2009.

As at 31 December 2010, each non-executive Director 
received fees at a rate of £50,000 per annum.  No additional 
fees are payable for the chairmanship of board committees.  
The non-executive Directors have no ongoing direct financial 
or contractual interests in the Company other than their fees, 
options and shareholdings as disclosed in this report. 
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Total shareholder return

This graph shows the Company’s total shareholder return 
compared with the FTSE AIM Index, and shows the change 
in the theoretical value of £100 invested in the Company’s 
shares as at listing on 16 March 2004 compared to £100 
invested in the FTSE AIM Index.

Directors’ emoluments

The following emoluments were paid to the Directors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Salary and fees Other payments1  Benefits-in-kind2  
Annual cash 

bonus 

Year ended 31 
December 2010 

Total
Executive Directors      
Michael Alen-Buckley £100,000 £187,500 £2,082 £60,000 £349,582
Charles Kirwan-Taylor £112,500 £150,000 £2,082 £60,000 £324,582
Philip Richards £100,000 £150,000 £1,542 £60,000 £311,542
Adam Grant £106,250 £56,250 £2,082 £60,000 £224,582
Christopher de Mattos3 £100,000 £0 £10,006 £40,000 £150,006
Former Executive Director
Stephen Couttie £83,333 £222,000 £1,509 £0 £306,842
Non-Executive Directors      
Derek Riches £50,000 £0 £0 £0 £50,000
Norman Lamont £50,000 £0 £0 £0 £50,000
Xavier Coirbay £50,000 £0 £0 £0 £50,000
Philip Moore £50,000 £0 £0 £0 £50,000

Total £802,083 £765,750 £19,303 £280,000 £1,867,136

1Other payments – one-off cash payments as described in the  “Compensation structure” section of this report above, except in the case of Stephen Couttie, which sum represents contractual and 
consultancy payments following his resignation as a Director.  A further amount of £60,000 is expected to be paid to him in 2011

2Benefits-in-kind – private health insurance 
3Mr de Mattos also received US$148,125 in fees from funds of which he is a director and which are managed by the Company.

£

RAB Capital plc FTSE AIM Index

Directors’ interests in shares

Those directors serving at the end of the year had the following 
interests in the share capital of the Company at 31 December:

2010 
No. of shares 

Ordinary 0.1p

2009 
No. of shares 

Ordinary 0.1p
Michael Alen-Buckley1 100,059,900 100,059,900
Xavier Coirbay - -
Christopher de Mattos 16,420,000 16,420,000
Adam Grant 92,400 -
Charles Kirwan-Taylor - -
Lord Lamont 40,000 40,000
Philip Moore2 38,674 -
Philip Richards 132,000,000 132,000,000
Derek Riches 600,000 600,000

159,900 shares held non-beneficially
2All held non-beneficially15/3/04
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The following share options were held by directors under the Company’s Unapproved Share Option Scheme at 31 December 2010:

Grant Date
Originally 

granted 

Held at 31 
December 

2009

Granted 
during the 

year

Cancelled 
during the 

year

Held at 31 
December 

2010

Exercise 
price per 

share

Exercisable

From To
Adam Grant 17 Sep 2009

20 Sep 2010
2,000,000
5,000,000

2,000,000 
-

-
5,000,000

-
-

2,000,000
5,000,000

23p
15p

30 Apr 2012
1 Sep 2011

17 Sep 2019
20 Sep 2020

Charles Kirwan-Taylor 15 May 2008
19 Jan 2009
20 Sep 2010
29 Dec 2010

1,500,000
4,000,000

15,000,000
150,000

1,500,000
4,000,000

-
-

-
-

15,000,000
150,000

1,500,0001

  -
 -
 -

-
4,000,000

15,000,000
150,000

90p 
23p
15p 
20p

-
30 Apr 2012
1 Sep 2011
1 Dec 2011

-
19 Jan 2019
20 Sep 2020
29 Dec 2020

Lord Lamont 4 Mar 2004 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 25p 1 Feb 2005 4 Mar 2014

1The option over 1,500,000 shares granted to Charles Kirwan-Taylor on 15 May 2008 was cancelled on 29 December 2010 and replaced by the grant over 150,000 shares on the same date.

The options granted to Adam Grant and Charles Kirwan-Taylor on 20 September 2010 vest in equal tranches on 1 September 
2011, 1 September 2012 and 1 September 2013.  The option granted to Charles Kirwan-Taylor on 29 December 2010 vests in 
the proportions 34% on 1 December 2011, and 33% on both 1 December 2012 and 1 December 2013. 

Derek Riches
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

15 March 2011

Remuneration committee report (continued)
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Directors’ 
report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ 
Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and 
Company financial statements for each financial year. As 
required by the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange they 
are required to prepare the Group financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the EU and applicable law and have 
elected to prepare the parent company financial statements on 
the same basis. 

Under company law the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
Company and the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are 
required to:

�� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

�� make judgments and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; 

�� state whether they have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and 

�� prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and 
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Company and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.



Contents
Independent Auditor’s report 21

Consolidated income statement 22

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 22

Balance sheets 23

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 24

Company statement of changes in equity 25

Cash flow statements 26

Notes to the financial statements 27

Financial Statements 



RAB Capital plc Annual Report and Accounts 2010

21Independent Auditor’s report to the members of RAB Capital plc 

We have audited the financial statements of RAB Capital 
plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise 
the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Group and Parent Company 
Balance Sheets, the Group and Company Statements of 
Changes in Equity, the Group and Company Statements of 
Cash Flow and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards 
the parent company financial statements, as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 19, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is 
provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/
private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

�� the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2010 and of the Group’s loss for the year then 
ended;

�� the group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union; and

�� the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union and as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

�� the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

�� adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

�� the Company financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

�� certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by 
law are not made; or

�� we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

��

T. Brown (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc,  
Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square 
London 
E14 5GL

15 March 2011
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Note
 2010 
 £000s

2009 
£000s

Revenue 2  11,897  13,934 
Net (loss)/gain on available-for-sale financial assets 15  (410)  3,327 
Interest receivable and similar income 7  282  913 
Gross income  11,769  18,174 
Cost of sales  (117)  (12)
Net income  11,652  18,162 
Administrative expenses  (23,055)  (24,516)
Operating loss before taxation, amortisation, impairments 
and restructuring costs

 (11,403)  (6,354)

Amortisation of intangible assets 11  (370)  (494)
Share of post-tax results from associates 12  (57)  (101)
Operating loss before taxation, impairments and restructuring costs  (11,830)  (6,949)
Impairment of goodwill and deferred acquisition costs 11/14  (4,878)   - 
Restructuring costs 6  (3,488)   - 
Operating loss before taxation 3  (20,196)  (6,949)
Taxation 8  831  3,852 
Loss after taxation attributable to equity holders of the parent 24  (19,365)  (3,097)

Basic loss per Ordinary share 10  (4.10)p  (0.65)p
Diluted loss per Ordinary share 10  (4.10)p  (0.65)p

All of the above amounts relate to continuing activities.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Loss for the financial year  (19,365)  (3,097)
Net gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax             406  (941)
Currency translation differences  70  (133)
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders of the parent  (18,889)  (4,171)

The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheets 
as at 31 December 2010

Group Company

Note
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 11  3,925  8,075  3,925  7,931 
Other intangible assets 11  -  370  -   370 
Investment in subsidiaries 12   -  -  8,751  9,841 
Investment in associates 12  158  215  191  265 
Property, plant and equipment 13  718  1,881  705  1,654 
Deferred tax assets 20   -   645  -  629 
Available-for-sale financial assets 15  40,877  47,290  32,317  36,159 
Total non-current assets  45,678  58,476  45,889  56,849 

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 16  5,993  8,643  5,852  8,597 
Current tax assets  2,857  5,344  2,717  5,270 
Cash and cash equivalents 17  41,666  45,479  39,983  44,001 
Total current assets  50,516  59,466  48,552  57,868 
Total assets  96,194  117,942  94,441  114,717 

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 20  (1,171)  (2,671)  (1,147)  - 
Total non current liabilities  (1,171)  (2,671)  (1,147)  - 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18  (7,167)  (7,377)  (7,816)  (15,259)
Provisions 19  (2,254)  (636)  (1,976)  (636)
Total current liabilities  (9,421)  (8,013)  (9,792)  (15,895)
Total liabilities  (10,592)  (10,684)  (10,939)  (15,895)
Net assets  85,602  107,258  83,502  98,822 

Equity
Called up share capital 21  477  505  477  505 
Share premium account 22  49,138  47,827  49,138  47,827 
Other reserves 23  10,366  15,198  10,328  15,460 
Retained earnings 24  25,621  43,728  23,559  35,030 
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent  85,602  107,258  83,502  98,822 

The financial statements on pages 22 to 47 were approved by the Board of Directors on 15 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

 

 
CHARLES KIRWAN-TAYLOR

Chief Executive
The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Note

Called 
up share  

capital 
£000s

Share 
premium 

account
£000s

Other 
reserves

£000s

Retained 
earnings

£000s

Total
equity
£000s

At 1 January 2009  504  46,428  17,507  59,189  123,628 
Loss for the financial year  -  -  -  (3,097)  (3,097)
Other comprehensive income:
 Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax  -  -  (941)  -  (941)
 Currency translation differences  -  -  -  (133)  (133) 
Transactions with equity holders:
 Option exercises using shares held in treasury  -  32  -  -  32 
 Share-based payments charge  -  -  -  307 307 
 Purchase of own shares  -  -  -  (1,245)  (1,245)
 Transferred from shares to be issued  1  1,367  (1,368)  -  - 
 Dividends paid 9  -  -  -  (11,293)  (11,293)
At 31 December 2009  505  47,827  15,198  43,728  107,258 
Loss for the financial year  -  -  -  (19,365)  (19,365)
Other comprehensive income:
 Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax  -  - 406  - 406
 Currency translation differences  -  -  - 70 70
Transactions with equity holders:
 Option exercises using shares held in treasury  -  5  -  - 5
 Share-based payments charge  -  -  -  520  520 
 Purchase of own shares  -  -  -  (457)  (457)
 Transfer on shares cancelled  (30)  - 30  -  - 
 Transferred from shares to be issued 2  1,306  (1,308)  -  - 
 Dividends paid 9  -  -  -  (2,835)  (2,835)
 Transferred from merger reserve  -  - (3,960)  3,960  - 
At 31 December 2010  477  49,138  10,366  25,621  85,602 

The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Note

Called 
up share  

capital 
£000s

Share 
premium 

account
£000s

Other 
reserves

£000s

Retained 
earnings

£000s

Total
equity
£000s

At 1 January 2009  504  46,428  17,528  50,301  114,761 
Loss for the financial year  -  -  -  (3,040)  (3,040)
Other comprehensive income:
 Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax  -  -  (700)  -  (700)
Transactions with equity holders:
 Option exercises using shares held in treasury  -  32  -  -  32
 Share-based payments charge  -  -  -  307  307 
 Purchase of own shares  -  -  -  (1,245)  (1,245)
 Transferred from shares to be issued  1  1,367  (1,368)  -  - 
 Dividends paid 9  -  -  -  (11,293)  (11,293)
At 31 December 2009  505  47,827  15,460  35,030  98,822 
Loss for the financial year  -  -  -  (12,659)  (12,659)
Other comprehensive income:
 Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax  -  - 106  -  106
Transactions with equity holders:
 Option exercises using shares held in treasury  - 5  -  - 5
 Share-based payments charge  -  -  -  520  520 
 Purchase of own shares  -  -  -  (457)  (457)
 Transfer on shares cancelled (30)  - 30  -  - 
 Transferred from shares to be issued  2  1,306  (1,308)  -  -  
 Dividends paid 9  -  -  -  (2,835)  (2,835)
 Transferred from merger reserve  -  - (3,960) 3,960  -

At 31 December 2010  477  49,138  10,328  23,559  83,502 

The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cash flow statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Group Company

Note
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation  (19,365)  (3,097)  (12,659)  (3,040)
Share of post-tax results from associates 12  57  101  -  - 
Amortisation of intangible assets 11  370  494  370  494 
Impairment of goodwill 11  4,150  -  4,006  - 
Impairment of deferred acquisition costs 14  728  -  -  - 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13  1,093  825  966  702 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 13  177  -  80  - 
Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs 14  32  -  -  - 
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries 12  -  -  1,090  - 
Impairment of investment in associate 12  -  -  74  - 
Share-based payments charge 5  520  307  521  307 
Net loss/(gain) on available-for-sale financial assets 15  410  (3,327)  902  (3,440)
Interest receivable and similar income 7  (282)  (913)  (10,677)  (2,206)
Taxation 8  (831)  (3,852)  1,883  (2,661)

 (12,941)  (9,462)  (13,444)  (9,844)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease in trade and other receivables  2,650  7,172  2,745  6,252 
Decrease in trade and other payables  (210)  (6,107)  (7,443)  (11,192)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  1,618  (2,328)  1,340  (2,328)
Cash used in operating activities  (8,883)  (10,725)  (16,802)  (17,112)
Taxation refund/(paid)  2,199  4  2,199  (969)
Net cash outflow used in operating activities  (6,684)  (10,721)  (14,603)  (18,081)
Cash flows generated from investing activities
Interest received 7  28  668  279  638 
Dividends received 7  -  245  10,398  1,568 
Decrease in assets held for sale  -  825  -  822 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13  (98)  (713)  (97)  (692)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  24  -  23 
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets 15  (36,927)  (42,745)  (27,509)  (35,544)
Intra-group transfers of available-for-sale financial assets 15  -  -  1,914  5,427 
Deferred acquisition costs 14  (780)  -  -  -  
Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 15  43,651  56,114  28,825  53,352 
Net cash inflow generated from investing activities  6,128  14,418  13,810  25,594 

Cash flows generated from financing activities
Equity dividends paid 9  (2,835)  (11,293)  (2,835)  (11,293)
Issue of Ordinary share capital 22  5  32  5  32 
Repurchase of own shares 21  (457)  (1,245)  (457)  (1,245)
Net cash outflow used in financing activities  (3,287)  (12,506)  (3,287)  (12,506)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (3,843)  (8,809)  (4,080)  (4,993)
Effect of exchange rate changes  30  (162)  62  -  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  45,479  54,450  44,001  48,994 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17  41,666  45,479  39,983  44,001 

The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010

 1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
RAB Capital plc (“the Company”) is a public limited company registered in 
England and Wales.  The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2010 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to 
as “the Group”).  The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Statement of compliance
The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared and 
approved by the Directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted in the European Union and the Companies Act 
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.  The Company has taken 
advantage of the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to 
present its own income statement and related notes.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, except for the measurement at fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets and derivative financial instruments.

IFRS - new standards and interpretations 
Issued standards and interpretations are those issued and endorsed in the 
European Union. The following standards and interpretations became effective 
for the current period. Other issued standards and interpretations are not 
considered relevant for the Group and as such do not impact the Group’s results. 
There is no financial impact arising from the application of these standards, only 
presentational changes and some additional or expanded notes to the accounts.

Standard/Interpretation
Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2010
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement

1 January 2010

Clarification of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

1 January 2010

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements (revised)

1 July 2009

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised) 1 July 2009

The Group does not expect the adoption of the following standards in future 
periods will have a material impact on the results or financial position of the 
Group. Other standards issued but not yet effective are not considered relevant to 
the Group and as such are not expected to impact the Group’s results.

Standard/Interpretation
Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2011
IAS 24 Related Party Transactions (revised) 1 January 2011
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2013

The amendment to IAS 1 clarifies that the analysis of other comprehensive income 
may be present either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the 
accounts.

The revision to IAS 24 Related Party Transactions simplifies the definition of a 
related party and removes inconsistencies in the previous version of the standard.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments establishes two primary measurement categories for 
financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The impairment of financial assets 
and hedge accounting guidance in IAS 39 continues to apply.

(A) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and entities over which the Company has the power to control financial 
and operating policies (its subsidiary undertakings).  The results of subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated 
income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective 
date of disposal, as appropriate.  Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with 
those used by the Group.  All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 

Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting 
and are initially recognised at cost.

Going concern 
The Board’s assessment of the Group’s position as at 31 December 2010 and 
the factors impacting the forthcoming year are set out in the Executive Chairman’s 

and Chief Executive’s Report on page 2 and in the Business Review on page 4,  
The Risk Management section of the Business Review and Note 28 include the 
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial 
risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging 
activities; and its exposures to credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group continues to have considerable financial resources in relation to the 
size of its operations.  During the year ended 31 December 2010 the Group 
streamlined its strategies, focusing on the strategies with strong track records and 
the ability of the Group to return to profitability.  Consequently, and after making 
enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that both the Company 
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future despite the continued uncertain economic outlook.  
Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the annual report and accounts. 

(B) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
The Directors make estimates and assumptions concerning the future, which by 
definition will seldom result in actual results that match the accounting estimate. 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill
In accordance with the accounting policy the Group tests annually to see 
whether goodwill has suffered any impairment.  The recoverable amount of 
cash-generating units is determined based on value in use calculations, which 
require the use of estimates of the future profitability and cash flows of the 
relevant cash-generating units, future interest rates and discount rates. Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying value of the goodwill an impairment 
is recognised.

Intangible assets
IFRS 3 requires that the Group identifies intangible assets arising on business 
combinations.  The identification and valuation of such intangible assets requires 
the use of estimates of the future profitability of the business acquired, future 
interest rates and discount rates. 

Classification of investments in the funds which the Group manages
The Group holds investments in a number of fund entities for which it acts as 
investment manager. The overarching objective of holding units in funds managed 
by the Group is to deliver shareholder value by generating higher levels of fee 
income from third party investors. Typically, investments are made to assist with 
the launch of a new fund, to create new share classes within an existing fund or to 
increase the size of the fund for marketing purposes.

Funds are not consolidated if one of the following three conditions are met: i) the 
fund is a Special Purpose Entity and the Group obtains less than the majority of 
the economic benefits; ii) the Group does not have the power to govern the fund, 
e.g. substantive kick out rights are in place; and iii) the dominant purpose of the 
Group’s involvement in the fund is for investment management fee revenue, rather 
than ownership interest.

Income taxes
Significant judgement is required in determining provisions for income taxes and 
in determining deferred tax assets based on an assessment of the probability that 
taxable profits will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be 
recovered.

Share-based compensation
In order to calculate the charge for share-based compensation as required by 
IFRS 2, the Group makes estimates principally relating to the assumptions used in 
its option-pricing model.

(C) Accounting policies 
Business combinations
The acquisition of businesses or subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 
method.  The cost of the acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair 
values at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and 
equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, 
plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.  The acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for 
recognition under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured 
at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities recognised.  If the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business 
combination, the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2010

 1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(C) Accounting policies (continued)
Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Company balance sheet at cost less 
any provisions for impairment. Pre-acquisition dividends are recognised in the 
income statement, but may also indicate that the investment is impaired.

Investments in associates  
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise 
significant influence, but not control or joint control, through participation in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.  Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

Investments in associates are carried in the Company balance sheet at cost, less 
any impairment in the value of individual investments. 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated into the 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.  
Investments in associates are carried in the Group balance sheet at cost as 
adjusted by post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the 
associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values 
of the identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of acquisition is 
recognised as goodwill.  The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of 
the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of that investment.  Any 
deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the Group’s share of the fair values of 
the identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of acquisition (i.e. discount 
on acquisition) is credited in the income statement in the period of acquisition.  

Where a Group company transacts with an associate of the Group, profits 
and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant 
associate. Losses may provide evidence of an impairment of the asset, in which 
case appropriate provision is made. 

Operating Segments
In accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, disclosures are required to reflect 
the information which the Board uses internally for evaluating the performance of 
its operating segments and allocating resources to those segments. The Group is 
currently managed as a single operating segment.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. 
Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses.

Goodwill arising on each acquisition is reviewed separately at each reporting 
date for impairment which, where appropriate, is charged to the income 
statement. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of 
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or 
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose. 

On disposal of a subsidiary undertaking or a business acquisition, the attributable 
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on 
disposal.

Intangible assets – acquired
Investment management agreements and non-compete agreements acquired as 
part of a business combination are capitalised where it is probable that future 
economic benefits attributable to the assets will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the assets can be measured reliably. 

Both types of agreement are recorded initially at fair value and then amortised 
using the straight-line method over their useful lives. The commercial life of 
the fund investment management agreements purchased is expected to range 
between eight and ten years, and for a managed account six years. The non-
compete agreements have a defined contractual life of three years. 

Intangible assets are impaired when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount; the recoverable amount being the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
sale costs and value in use. An impairment review is performed when there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired.  

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, or fair value on acquisition, less 
depreciation and accumulated impairment provisions. Depreciation is provided at 

the following rates calculated to write off the cost less the estimated residual value 
of each asset over its expected useful economic life, or the period of expected use 
if shorter:

Category Basis

Office equipment 25% to 100% per annum, straight-line

Furniture and fixtures 25% to 100% per annum, straight-line

Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Investments
Investments are initially recognised at fair value. Investments in the funds 
managed by the Group are classified as “available-for-sale” investments and are 
included in non-current assets. Such investments are subsequently measured at 
fair value, with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value generally 
being recognised in equity. The starting point for determining fair value of 
investments in funds managed by the Group is the net asset value (“NAV”) of 
the fund which is calculated by a third party. In rare circumstances it may be 
necessary to adjust the reported NAV for factors that would cause it to differ from 
fair value.   

Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred and substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred. When disposal occurs a gain or loss 
is recognised in the income statement, calculated as the difference between the 
net sales proceeds and the original cost of the financial asset. Any fair value gains 
or losses previously recognised directly in equity are recycled into the income 
statement as part of this calculation of the gain or loss arising on disposal.

Purchases and sales of investments are recorded when substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to/from the Group, this is 
usually on the trade date.

Management assess at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence 
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.  In the case of an 
investment classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value of the investment below its cost, or management do not believe the 
investment can be held long enough to allow its value to recover are considered 
as indicators of impairment.  If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale 
investments, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
investment previously recognised in the income statement – is removed from 
equity and recognised in the income statement.  If impairment losses are reversed 
the gain is recognised directly in equity.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge exposures to fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates arising on certain trading transactions. The principal 
derivative instruments used are forward currency contracts taken out to hedge 
against movements in foreign exchange rates when the Group holds large 
receivable balances.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the trade date and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value with any movement recorded in the income 
statement. 

Assets held for sale
Assets held for sale represent assets where the carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Assets 
classified as held for sale are carried at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. 

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision 
for impairment. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised in the income statement when there is objective evidence that the 
asset is impaired. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and on demand, deposits and 
other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the 
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.  An equity instrument 
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. 

Income recognition
Revenue 
Revenue represents fees receivable for investment management and advisory 
services provided during the period.  Management fees are recognised as the 
services are provided. The Group is entitled to earn performance fees from the 
majority of its funds. Performance fees are normally recognised at the end of 
a performance period and are calculated as the incremental appreciation of a 
fund’s net asset value over the previous high water mark, which is typically the 
last net asset value at which a performance fee was paid or the net asset value at 
which an investor first invests.

Other revenue mainly comprises of redemption penalties, research fees and 
distribution and advisory fees. 

Interest receivable and similar income 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.  
Distributions from investments are recognised on the date that the right to receive 
payment has been established.

Cost of sales 
Cost of sales comprises fees and commissions payable to third parties in respect 
of distribution services. Commissions and distribution fees payable to third parties 
are recognised over the period for which the service is provided.

Operating leases 
Amounts payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives, paid or received, are 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease.

Foreign currency 
The individual financial statements of each subsidiary undertaking are presented 
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, 
the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Sterling, which 
is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements. 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in 
currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are 
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At 
each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items and on the 
retranslation of monetary items are included in the income statement for the 
period.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, income and 
expense items of the Group’s foreign operations are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period. Assets and liabilities are expressed in Sterling using 
exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are shown as 
a separate component of equity. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 
translated at the closing rate. 

Taxation 
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and 
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit 
differs from profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items 
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the balance sheet date. Income tax relating to items charged or 
credited directly to equity is also dealt with in equity. 

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases, and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  However, deferred tax is 
not accounted for if it arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised.  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged 
or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or 
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in 
equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 
right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation jurisdiction and the Group intends to 
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on the 
performance of the Group for the financial year.  The Group recognises a liability 
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation. 

Share-based payments
The Company issues options over its Ordinary shares to recruit and incentivise 
employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the 
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant.  The fair 
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based instrument is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting/performance period, based on 
the Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the 
effect of non market-based vesting conditions.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2010

 2 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
The Group has one operating segment, namely investment management. Strategic and financial management decisions are determined by the Board and information is 
reported on an aggregated basis. The result of that operating segment is therefore disclosed in these accounts on pages 22 to 47. 

(A) Entity-wide disclosures

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Management fees  9,235  10,748 
Performance fees  2,408  2,846 
Other fees  254  340 
Revenue  11,897  13,934 

(B) Geographical information 
Although the Group’s principal office is located in London, investment management revenue is generated from where the fund entity or client is registered. Consequently, 
revenue is generated from the following geographical locations: 

 2010
 £000s

2009
£000s

Cayman Islands  8,756  9,422 
British Virgin Islands  479  935 
Hong Kong  243  844 
Guernsey  618  670 
Jersey  1,086  504 
Bermuda  110  468 
Switzerland  73  322 
Isle of Man  222  300 
US  177  181 
UK  92  129 
Ireland  27  82 
Other  14  77 
Revenue  11,897  13,934 

(C) Key customers

The following customers contributed more than 10% to Group revenue:

Customer
2010

£000s

RAB Special Situations  3,469 
RAB Energy  3,172 

 6,641 
Other customers individually <10%  5,256 
Revenue  11,897 

Customer
2009

£000s

RAB Special Situations  3,503 
RAB Energy  1,579 

 5,082 
Other customers individually <10%  8,852 
Revenue  13,934 
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 3 OPERATING LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
(A) Operating loss before taxation

Group

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Operating loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging:  
Staff costs (see Note 5)  14,715  15,311 
Operating leases  (see Note 27)  1,430  1,451 
Amortisation of intangible assets (see Note 11)  370  494 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (see Note 13)  1,093  825 
Foreign exchange loss  281  460 

(B) Free cash loss after taxation
Management views free cash (loss)/earnings after taxation as an important measure of performance. The measure excludes non-cash charges.

Group

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Operating loss before taxation  (20,196)  (6,949)
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets (see Note 15)  1,570  812 
Impairment of goodwill (see Note 11)  4,150  -  
Amortisation of intangible assets (see Note 11)  370  494 
Impairment of fixed assets (see Note 13)  177  - 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (see Note 13)  1,093  825 
Share-based payments charge (see Note 5)  520  307 
Free cash loss before taxation  (12,316)  (4,511)
Effective tax credit - income statement credit  831  3,852 
Free cash loss after taxation  (11,485)  (659)

 4 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The analysis of Auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

KPMG Audit Plc

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Annual audit fee in respect of current financial year  103  115 
Audit of these financial statements  103  115 

Audit of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation  11  14 
Total audit fees  114  129 

Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor and their associates for other  
services to the Group 
 Other services pursuant to legislation  8  158 
 Tax services  19  16 
 Other services  31  138 
Total Auditor’s remuneration  172  441 

The Auditor’s remuneration stated above includes expenses and is payable in cash.

 5 STAFF COSTS AND EMPLOYEES
(A) Staff Costs

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Staff costs including Directors' emoluments
Wages and salaries  7,684  8,425 
Staff bonuses  5,161  5,145 
Social security costs  1,334  1,417 
Other staff costs  16  17 
Share-based payments  520  307 

 14,715  15,311 

Staff bonuses including related social security costs totalled £5,772,000 (2009: £5,738,000).

The share-based payments charge in the income statement of the Company differs from that shown in retained earnings and the cash flow statement as this 
includes share-based payments charged in subsidiaries relating to Ordinary shares in the Company. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2010

 5 STAFF COSTS AND EMPLOYEES (continued)
(B) Average number of employees

2010
Number

2009
Number

Average monthly number employed including executive Directors: 
Office and management 103  119 

(C) Directors’ emoluments

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Directors' emoluments 1,867  1,063 

The Directors did not exercise any options during the year (2009: nil). 

The Directors are potential beneficiaries of the Employee Benefit Trusts (“EBT”) (see Note 26). 

No Directors sacrificed any anticipated emoluments during 2010 (2009: two Directors sacrificed a total of £0.1 million which was paid to charity).  There have 
been no contributions in respect of Directors to money purchase pension schemes during the year (2009: £nil).  

(D) Share-based payments
The Group has issued the following options over Ordinary shares of the Company:

2010 2009

Number of
share

options

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Number of
share

options

Weighted
average
exercise

price
Outstanding at 1 January  86,985,000 47.0p   73,595,000 69.0p  
Granted during the year  25,267,500 16.0p   40,500,000 23.0p  
Exercised during the year  (60,000) 8.0p   (420,000) 8.0p  
Expired during the year  -  n/a   -  n/a  
Cancelled during the year  (34,305,000) 71.8p   -  n/a  
Forfeited during the year  (23,970,000) 39.8p   (26,690,000) 72.0p  
Outstanding at 31 December  53,917,500 19.9p   86,985,000 47.0p  
Vested but not exercised at 31 December  5,220,000 23.8p   30,650,000 55.2p  

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options during the year was 13.25p (2009: 21.0p).

The options outstanding at the end of the year, grouped by exercise price, had weighted average remaining contractual lives as follows:

2010 2009

Exercise price

Number of
share

options

Weighted
average

life (years)

Number of
share

options

Weighted
average

life (years)

8p  2,070,000  3.1  2,130,000  4.1 
15p  20,000,000  9.7  -  - 
20p  5,267,500  10.0  -  - 
23p  23,350,000  8.3  37,000,000  9.2 
25p  2,250,000  3.7  3,250,000  4.5 
35p  400,000  4.4  400,000  5.4 
40p  100,000  4.4  14,275,000  5.4 
45p   -  -  2,000,000  5.9 
75p  160,000  5.2  6,890,000  6.2 
90p  320,000 6.2   17,690,000  7.2 
105p   -  -  3,350,000  7.9 

 53,917,500  86,985,000 

The Group issues equity-settled share-based instruments to its employees.  Equity-settled share-based instruments are measured at fair value at the date of grant.  The fair 
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based instrument is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting/performance period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest. 

Options generally vest over three or five year periods following grant, provided the option holder remains an employee of the Company, and expire after ten years. The fair 
value of options is measured using a trinomial lattice model that takes into account the effect of  financial assumptions, including the future share price volatility, dividend 
yield, and risk-free interest rates.  The expected volatility was determined based on both the volatility of the Company’s share price since flotation and the volatility of similar 
quoted companies.  Employee exit rates and the expected period from vesting to exercise are also considered, based on historical experience. 
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The principal assumptions for valuing share-based payments are: 

2010

Unapproved option scheme

Exercise price 15p 20p
Options/awards made in year 20,000,000 5,267,500
Weighted average share price at grant date 12.0p 12.0p
Expected volatility 35% 35%
Weighted average expected life 5.5 years 5.1 years
Expected exit rate 10% 10%
Risk-free rate 0.5%-4.0% 0.5%-4.0%
Dividend yield 5.0% 5.0%
Weighted average fair value at grant date 1.6p 1.6p

2009

Unapproved option scheme

Exercise price 23p
Options/awards made in year 40,500,000
Weighted average share price at grant date 12.4p
Expected volatility 30%-40%
Weighted average expected life 7.2 years
Expected exit rate 15%
Risk-free rate 0.5%-4.0%
Dividend yield 3.0%-4.0%
Weighted average fair value at grant date 1.5p

 6 RESTRUCTURING COSTS

Group

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Onerous lease  556  - 
Impairment of fixed assets (see Note 13)  177  - 
Redundancy and related costs  2,755  - 
At 31 December  3,488  - 

The onerous lease provision has been raised in relation to the vacant areas in the Adam Street office and the Hong Kong office.  This provision will be released during 
2011 over the expected remaining lives of the leases.

The impairment of fixed assets is in relation to those fixed assets used in association with the onerous building leases.

The redundancy and related costs are in respect of the scaling back of operations, both in Hong Kong and the UK.

 7 INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

Group

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Bank interest receivable  282  668 
Dividends received  -   245 
Total interest receivable and similar income  282  913 

 8 TAXATION
(A) Analysis of tax charge for the year

Group

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Current tax on income for the year  1  (2,070)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods  338  (1,732)
Current tax charge/(credit)  339  (3,802)
Deferred tax credit (see Note 20)  (1,170)  (50)
Tax credit in the consolidated income statement  (831)  (3,852)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2010

 8 TAXATION (continued)
(B) Factors affecting the tax charge for the year

Group

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation  (20,196)  (6,949)

Tax credit on loss on ordinary activities at standard UK corporation tax rate of 28% (2009: 28% )  (5,655)  (1,946)
Effect of:
 Disallowed expenses and non-taxable income  720  88 
 Trading losses not recognised  3,270   - 
 Adjustments in respect of available-for-sale financial assets  (677)  (124)
 Share based payments in excess of tax credits recognised  180  33 
 Adjustments in respect of goodwill/intangibles  892  (31)
 Adjustments in respect of prior periods  338  (1,732)
 Other  101  (140)
Tax credit in the income statement  (831)  (3,852)
Effective tax rate 4.1% 55.4%

 9 DIVIDENDS

Group and Company

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Prior year final paid: nil (2009: 1.80p) per 0.1p Ordinary share   -  8,469 
Prior year second interim paid: 0.50p (2009: nil) per 0.1p Ordinary share  2,362   - 
Current year interim paid: 0.10p (2009: 0.60p) per 0.1p Ordinary share  473  2,824 
Total dividends paid in the year  2,835  11,293 

On 15 March 2011, the Directors declared a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2010 of 0.10p per Ordinary share (second interim 2009: 
0.50p), or £470,471 (2009: £2,352,000) based on the Ordinary shares in issue and excluding those held in treasury at 31 December 2010.  The final dividend (2009: 
second interim) has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

 10 LOSS PER ORDINARY SHARE 
The calculations of basic and diluted loss per Ordinary share are based on the loss for the year of £19,365,000 (2009: loss £3,097,000) and on the following share 
capital data: 

2010 2009

Basic weighted average number of Ordinary shares  471,967,688  475,937,418 
Dilutive effect of share-based payments  1,002,184  1,526,065 
Dilutive effect of shares to be issued for acquisition of the Pi business  1,455,317  2,986,755 
Diluted weighted average number of Ordinary shares  474,425,189  480,450,238 

Where the Group has incurred a loss for the year no dilution arises, despite the diluted weighted average number of Ordinary shares being greater than the basic weighted 
average number of Ordinary shares. As a result the basic and diluted loss per Ordinary share are the same for the year.

 11 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(A) Movement in fair value

Group Company

Goodwill  
£000s

Intangible  
assets  
£000s

Total  
£000s

Goodwill  
£000s

Intangible  
assets  
£000s

Total  
£000s

Cost
At 1 January 2009  8,075  7,326  15,401  7,931  7,326  15,257 
At 31 December 2009  8,075  7,326  15,401  7,931  7,326  15,257 
At 31 December 2010  8,075  7,326  15,401  7,931  7,326  15,257 

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2009   -  6,462  6,462   -  6,462  6,462 
Amortisation charge for year   -  494  494   -  494  494 
At 31 December 2009   -  6,956  6,956   -  6,956  6,956 
Amortisation charge for year   -  370  370   -  370  370 
Impairment charge  4,150   -  4,150  4,006   -  4,006 
At 31 December 2010  4,150  7,326  11,476  4,006  7,326  11,332 
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Group Company

Goodwill  
£000s

Intangible  
assets  
£000s

Total  
£000s

Goodwill  
£000s

Intangible  
assets  
£000s

Total  
£000s

Net book amount
At 1 January 2009  8,075  864  8,939  7,931  864  8,795 
At 31 December 2009  8,075  370  8,445  7,931  370  8,301 
At 31 December 2010  3,925   -  3,925  3,925   -  3,925 

Intangible assets comprise capitalised investment management and non-compete agreements acquired as part of business combinations.

(B) Impairment charge 

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Goodwill
 Cross  3,017   -  2,872   - 
 The Pi business  1,133   -  1,134   - 
Impairment charge  4,150   -  4,006   - 

Since the acquisition of Cross in 2006 the assets under management (“AUM”) attributable to that cash-generating unit have decreased significantly.  The Goodwill carrying 
amount has been recalculated to reflect this, and an impairment booked during the year. 

The Goodwill created on the purchase of the Pi business has been fully impaired during the year.  This impairment is due to the closure of the fund, the scaling back of 
operations in Hong Kong and the departure of the original principals of the Pi business. 

(C) Impairment tests for goodwill  
The carrying amounts of goodwill are presented below:

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Cross  3,925  6,942  3,925  6,797 
The Pi business   -  1,133   -  1,134 

 3,925  8,075  3,925  7,931 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to derive value from 
the business combination. To determine whether impairment exists, the carrying value of goodwill is compared with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
on an annual basis. All of the recoverable amounts were calculated based on value in use. To calculate the value in use, an estimate of future cash flows from each 
cash-generating unit and expectations about possible variations in the amount of these cash flows have been considered, including where acquired businesses have been 
integrated into existing businesses. An appropriate risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate is applied to these future cash flows, resulting in a balance representing their value in 
use, which is compared with the carrying value of goodwill to determine whether impairment exists. 

The key assumptions used by management for value in use calculations for each acquisition are: 

2010 2009

Period of cash flow projection 10 years 21 years
Growth of funds under management - sales 6% 6% - from 2011
 - performance 7% 8%
Discount rate (management fee/performance fee) 10%/15% 10%/15%

The following information was used to determine the value assigned to each key assumption:  
�� Historical results
�� Current trading position 
�� Financial projections 

The discount rate used for performance fees was 15% to reflect that such cash flows are riskier than those from management fees. A period of 10 years was used in the 
calculation as an approximation of the life of the goodwill being reviewed. This is a reduction from the previously used period of 21 years, when the asset was believed to 
have an indefinite life.  
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 12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
(A) Subsidiaries

Company

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

At 1 January  9,841  9,841 
Impairment   (1,090)   - 
At 31 December  8,751  9,841

The impairment of the investment in subsidiaries arose as a result of the payment of dividends by Cross Asset Management Limited, a subsidiary. 

The Company’s investment in its wholly-owned and fully consolidated subsidiary undertakings at 31 December included the following:  

Name
Country of 

incorporation
Functional  

currency
Principal 

activity

RAB Partners Limited Cayman Islands GBP Investment management
RAB Capital (Asia) Limited1 Hong Kong HKD Investment management
2006 Acquisition Limited2 England and Wales GBP Non-trading
Cross Asset Management Limited England and Wales GBP Non-trading
I2S Limited3 England and Wales GBP Investment advisory
Leumas (Jersey) Limited Jersey GBP Investment company

1RAB Capital (Asia) Limited was incorporated in Hong Kong on 25 June 2007 
2Previously called Northwest Investment Management Limited 
3I2S Limited owns 100% of the Ordinary share capital of Leumas (Jersey) Limited. The year end of I2S Limited and Leumas (Jersey) Limited is 31 March, whilst that of all other subsidiary undertakings is 
31 December  

(B) Associates 

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
At 1 January  215  316  265  265 
Impairment  -   -  (74)   - 
Share of post-acquisition loss after tax   (57)  (101)  -  - 
At 31 December  158  215  191  265 

On 21 November 2007 the Group acquired 20% of Prestige Asset Management Co., Ltd (“Prestige”), an investment advisory company incorporated and operating in 
Japan, for a total consideration of £265,000 payable in cash.  Following a capital restructure and share buyback by Prestige in May 2010, the holding rose to 24%. 

An impairment of the Prestige investment has been recorded to reflect the decrease in the NAV of Prestige since the 2007 purchase.

Prestige has a statutory accounting reference date of 31 March. The summarised financial information in respect of the years ended 31 March is as follows:  
  

Year ended 31 March
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Assets  1,019  1,510 
Liabilities  30  47 
Revenues  328  779 
Pre-tax loss  (439)  (36)
Weighted average interest held during period 20% 20%

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group Company

 Office 
 equipment 

 £000s 

 Furniture 
 and fixtures 

 £000s 
Total  

£000s

 Office 
 equipment 

 £000s 

 Furniture 
 and fixtures 

 £000s 
Total  

£000s
Cost
At 1 January 2009  2,781  1,915  4,696  2,605  1,575  4,180 
Additions  127  586  713  107  585  692 
Transfers  30  (30)   -  30  (30)   - 
Exchange differences  (11)  (21)  (32)   -   -   - 
Disposals  (15)  (50)  (65)  (15)  (50)  (65)
At 31 December 2009  2,912  2,400  5,312  2,727  2,080  4,807 
Additions  37  61  98  36  61  97 
Exchange differences  4  10  14   -   -   - 
Disposals  1   -  1   -   -   - 
At 31 December 2010  2,954  2,471  5,425  2,763  2,141  4,904 

Depreciation
At 1 January 2009  1,549  1,103  2,652  1,493  1,000  2,493 
Charge for the year  483  342  825  441  261  702 
Transfers  25  (25)   -  25  (25)   - 
Exchange differences  (2)  (3)  (5)  -   -   - 
Disposals  (15)  (26)  (41)  (16)  (26)  (42)
At 31 December 2009  2,040  1,391  3,431  1,943  1,210  3,153 
Charge for the year  497  596  1,093  452  514  966 
Disposals  1   -  1   -   -   - 
Exchange differences  2  3  5   -  -   - 
Impairments (see Note 6)  42  135  177   -  80  80 
At 31 December 2010  2,582  2,125  4,707  2,395  1,804  4,199 

Net book amount
At 1 January 2009  1,232  812  2,044  1,112  575  1,687 
At 31 December 2009  872  1,009  1,881  784  870  1,654 
At 31 December 2010  372  346  718  368  337  705 

 14 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS

Group
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
At 1January   -   - 
Additions in the year  780   - 
Amortisation  (32)   - 
Impairment  (728)   - 
Foreign exchange loss  (20)   - 
At 31 December   -   - 

Deferred acquisition costs arose on the commencement of a new investment strategy and mandate during 2010.  These were subsequently impaired when the strategy was 
discontinued.

 15 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 
(A) Movement in fair value

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
At 1 January  47,290  59,240  36,159  57,490 
Additions  36,927  42,745  27,509  35,544 
Transfers at cost to subsidiaries   -   -  (1,914)  (5,427)
Disposals  (43,651)  (56,114)  (28,825)  (53,352)
Gain/(loss) on movement in fair value  311  1,419  (612)  1,904 
At 31 December  40,877  47,290  32,317  36,159 

Included within available-for-sale financial assets are:
Uncrystallised net gain  1,943  1,222  1,906  1,615 
Impairments  (3,268)  (5,550)  (2,655)  (4,005)
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 15 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 
(B) Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses available-for-sale financial assets carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows: 
�� Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets;
�� Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
�� Level 3: inputs for the asset are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Level 1  2,883  3,090  2,883  3,090 
Level 2  19,773  22,870  14,564  16,124 
Level 3  18,221  21,330  14,870  16,945 
At 31 December  40,877  47,290  32,317  36,159 

During the year there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 valuation methods, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 valuation method.

The following table is a reconcilliation of the movements in financial assets classified as Level 3:

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
At 1 January  21,330  39,583  16,945  37,833 
Additions  16,517  5,921  10,361  5,921 
Transfers at cost to subsidiaries   -   -   -  (3,002)
Disposals  (18,424)  (23,200)  (11,302)  (23,263)
Fair value movements recognised in the statement of comprehensive income  368  (162)  391  (130)
Impairment recognised in the income statement  (1,570)  (812)  (1,525)  (414)
At 31 December  18,221  21,330  14,870  16,945 

The starting point for determining the fair value of investments in funds managed by the Group is the NAV of the fund which is calculated by a third party. In rare 
circumstances it may be necessary to adjust the reported NAV for factors that would cause it to differ from fair value. 
When classifying the hierarchical level of an available-for-sale financial asset the portfolio hierarchy of the fund is taken into account. If a significant proportion of the fund 
is made up from assets categorised as Level 3 then the Company’s investment is categorised as Level 3.

Included in Level 3 are investments in funds which have been impacted by the administration of Lehman Brothers International (Europe) (“LBIE”). Management have 
assessed each type of investment impacted by the administration of LBIE to form a view on the recoverability of such assets. Due to the ongoing uncertainty around the LBIE 
proceedings, the affected investments have been further written down during 2010 through the income statement.

(C) Net gain/(loss) recognised in income statement  

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Proceeds on disposal  43,651  56,114  28,825  53,352 
Original book cost less impairment charges  (42,491)  (51,975)  (28,202)  (49,498)
Net gain on disposal  1,160  4,139  623  3,854 
Impairment charge in year  (1,570)  (812)  (1,525)  (414)
Net (loss)/gain  (410)  3,327  (902)  3,440 

 16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Trade receivables  4,312  2,868  4,271  2,868 
Amounts due from Group undertakings   -   -  29   - 
Prepayments and accrued income  840  1,073  712  1,027 
Other debtors  841  4,702  840  4,702 

 5,993  8,643  5,852  8,597 

Trade receivables mainly comprise management fees and performance fees due from funds and clients. Other debtors predominantly relates to amounts receivable from 
funds from disposals of available-for-sale financial assets. 

 17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009 

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Cash at bank  9,539  8,842  8,141  7,614 
Short-term deposits  32,127  36,637  31,842  36,387 

 41,666  45,479  39,983  44,001 

Cash and cash equivalents are distributed across a range of major financial institutions with high credit ratings in accordance with the Group’s treasury policy. Cash at 
bank comprises current accounts and immediately accessible deposit accounts. At 31 December the average weighted maturity of the short-term deposits was 43 days 
(2009: 44 days).
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 18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Amounts due to Group undertakings  -  -  796  8,220 
Other taxation and social security  2,620  501  2,620  501 
Trade payables  3,446  1,599  3,431  1,582 
Accruals and deferred income  1,101  5,277  969  4,956 

 7,167  7,377  7,816  15,259 

Accruals and deferred income include the accrual for employee bonuses.

 19 PROVISIONS

Group

 Restructure 
 £000s 

 Onerous lease
£000s

Other 
 £000s

Total  
£000s

At 1 January 2010  66   -  570  636 
Additions  1,181   556   -  1,737 
Provisions utilised (66)   -  (53)  (119)
Provisions released  -   -   -   - 
At 31 December 2010  1,181  556  517  2,254 

Company

 Restructure 
 £000s 

Onerous lease
£000s

Other 
 £000s

Total  
£000s

At 1 January 2010  66   -  570  636 
Additions  1,118   341   -  1,459 
Provisions utilised (66)   -  (53)  (119)
Provisions released   -   -   - 
At 31 December 2010  1,118  341  517  1,976 

The restructure provision relates to redundancy and related costs in the reorganisation of the business.  The provision is expected to be fully utilised during 2011. 

The onerous lease provision has been raised in relation to the vacant areas in the Adam Street and Hong Kong offices.  This provision will be released during 2011 over 
the expected life of the leases. 

Other provisions consist of staff related benefits distributable to employees by the EBTs and a provision for dilapidations specified in the leases of land and buildings.  If RAB 
leaves its buildings during 2011, the dilapidations provision will be released. The provision relating to the EBTs is expected to be utilised in 2011. 

 20 DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax asset and liability balances are as follows:  

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Deferred tax assets
Realised and unrealised losses on available-for-sale financial assets  1,330  396  1,330  365 
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances  233  112  233  89 
Trading losses carried forward   -  329   -  329 
Goodwill impairment in excess of allowances  257   -  257   - 
Share-based payments  27  62  27  62 
Other   -  95   -  118 
Deferred tax assets  1,847  994  1,847  963 

Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealised gains on available-for-sale financial assets  518  349  518  334 
Profits arising in overseas subsidiaries  2,476  2,647  2,476   - 
Other  24  24   -   - 
Deferred tax liabilities  3,018  3,020  2,994  334 
Net deferred tax (liability)/asset  (1,171)  (2,026)  (1,147)  629 

Disclosed as:
Deferred tax assets   -  645   -  629 
Deferred tax liabilities  (1,171)  (2,671)  (1,147)   - 
Net deferred tax (liability)/asset  (1,171)  (2,026)  (1,147)  629 

The Group has not realised a deferred tax asset in respect of accumulated trading losses due to the uncertainty around the timing and use of such losses.  The amount of 
unrecognised deferred tax asset in respect of these losses at 31 December 2010 is £3.7 million (2009: £nil). 
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 20 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
A deferred tax asset is recognised in respect of realised and unrealised losses on available-for-sale financial assets to the extent that management believes they are 
recoverable against realised gains in future periods.  This is usually the level of the Group’s unrealised gains at the balance sheet date.  The amount of unrecognised 
deferred tax asset in respect of realised and unrealised capital losses at 31 December 2010 is £1.0 million (2009: £1.1 million).

To the extent that profits arising in overseas subsidiaries and associates may result in additional taxes, appropriate amounts have been provided for.

The deferred tax asset in respect of equity settled share-based payments is calculated as the difference between market price of the share and exercise price of the option 
(“intrinsic value”) at the end of the period multiplied by the proportion of the vesting period that has elapsed and the expected tax rate at exercise.  To the extent that the 
deferred tax asset exceeds the related cumulative employee share-based payments charge multiplied by the tax rate less cumulative tax credits on the exercise of share 
options credited to the income statement, the excess deferred tax asset is credited to equity. 

The movements on deferred tax assets during the year were:  

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Net deferred tax (liability)/asset at 1 January  (2,026)  (3,043)  629  (80)

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (see Note 8)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances  121  45  144  22 
Share-based payments  (35)  38  (35)  38 
Goodwill impairment in excess of allowances  257   -  257   - 
Realised and unrealised losses offsetable against unrealised gains on 
available-for-sale financial assets

 1,080  (631)  965  (516)

Trading losses (released)/recognised in year  (329)  329  (329)  329 
Profits arising in overseas subsidiaries  171  270  (2,476)   - 
Other  (95)  (1)  (118)   - 

 1,170  50  (1,592)  (127)

(Charged)/credited to equity
Fair value movement on available-for-sale financial assets  (315)  967  (184)  836 

 (315)  967  (184)  836 
Net deferred tax (liability)/asset at 31 December  (1,171)  (2,026)  (1,147)  629 

 21 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised

2010 2009
Number  

of Shares £000s
Number  

of Shares £000s
Ordinary shares of 0.1p each  1,299,999,000  1,300  1,299,999,000  1,300 
Convertible shares of 0.001p each  800,000,000  8  800,000,000  8 

Allotted, called up and fully paid

Ordinary shares Convertible shares Total
Number  

of Shares £000s
Number  

of Shares £000s £000s
At 1 January 2009  503,703,360  504  1,000,000   -  504 
Transfer from shares to be issued  1,540,764  1   -  -  1 
Cancellation of C2 convertible shares   -   -  (1,000,000)   -   - 
At 31 December 2009  505,244,124  505   -   -  505 
Transfer from shares to be issued  1,540,767  2   -  -  2 
Cancellation of shares held in treasury  (30,000,000)  (30)   -   -  (30)
At 31 December 2010  476,784,891  477   -   -  477 

2010 2009

Consisting of:
Number  

of Shares

Percentage of 
called up  

share capital
Number  

of Shares

Percentage of  
called up  

share capital
Held in treasury  6,313,643  1.3%  32,762,643  6.5%
With voting rights 470,471,248 98.7% 472,481,481 93.5%
Convertible shares of 0.001p each  476,784,891  100.0%  505,244,124  100.0%

Convertible shares   
On 25 September 2009 the Convertible shares were transferred to the Company for nil consideration and were cancelled. 

Option exercises 
The Group operates share-based incentive schemes for employees which can be settled by issuing new shares or from shares held in treasury.  Details of these are given in 
Note 5.  
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Ordinary share buyback  
At the AGM in May 2010 the Company renewed the Directors’ authority to make share buybacks provided that these are in the best interest of the Company and increase 
the NAV per share.  During the year the Company bought back the following shares:

2010 2009
Number of shares  3,611,000  9,315,065 
Total consideration   £456,413   £1,243,321 
Transaction costs (included in total consideration)   £2,984   £7,428 
Nominal value of shares  £3,611  £9,315 
Percentage of called up share capital at 1 January   0.7%   1.8%

The cost of the Ordinary shares bought back has been deducted from retained earnings. Upon cancellation the capital redemption reserve is credited with the nominal 
value of the Ordinary shares cancelled. 

Shares held in Treasury

Group and Company
2010  

Number  
of Shares

2009 
Number  

of Shares
At 1 January  32,762,643  15,285,071 
Forfeited contingent consideration shares   -  6,704,109 
Purchased from Employee Benefit Trust   -  1,878,398 
Shares purchased back by the Company  3,611,000  9,315,065 
Cancellation of shares held in treasury  (30,000,000)   - 
Used for options exercises  (60,000)  (420,000)
At 31 December  6,313,643  32,762,643 

The maximum number of shares held in treasury at any one point during the year were:

Group and Company
2010 2009

Number of shares  33,547,643  33,182,643 
Nominal value of shares   £33,548  £33,183 
Percentage of called up share capital   6.6%   6.6% 

 22 SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT 

Group and Company

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

At 1 January  47,827  46,428 
Transfer from shares to be issued  1,306  1,367 
Premium arising on option exercises using shares held in treasury  5  32 
At 31 December  49,138  47,827 

 23 OTHER RESERVES

Group

Merger
reserve 
 £000s 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve  
£000s

 Revaluation 
 reserve
 £000s 

Other 
reserves 

 £000s 
Total  

£000s
At 1 January 2009  12,590  53  1,961  2,903  17,507 
Net gain on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  1,419   -  1,419 
Revaluation reserve transfer on available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  (3,327)   -  (3,327)
Transfer to share capital and share premium on issuance of shares   -   -   -  (1,368)  (1,368)
Movements on deferred tax   -   -  967   -  967 
At 1 January 2010  12,590  53  1,020  1,535  15,198 
Transfer to retained earnings  (3,960)   -   -   -  (3,960)
Transfer on shares bought back and cancelled   -  30   -   -  30 
Net gain on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  311   -  311 
Revaluation reserve transfer on available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  410   -  410 
Transfer from shares to be issued   -   -   -  (1,308)  (1,308)
Movements on deferred tax   -   -  (315)   -  (315)
At 31 December 2010  8,630  83  1,426  227  10,366 
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 23 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

Company

Merger
reserve 
 £000s 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve  
£000s

 Revaluation 
 reserve
 £000s 

Other 
reserves 

 £000s 
Total  

£000s
At 1 January 2009  12,590  53  1,982  2,903  17,528 
Net gain on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  1,904   -  1,904 
Revaluation reserve transfer on available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  (3,440)   -  (3,440)
Transfer to share capital and share premium on issuance of shares   -   -   -  (1,368)  (1,368)
Movements on deferred tax   -   -  836   -  836 
At 1 January 2010  12,590  53  1,282  1,535  15,460 
Transfer to retained earnings  (3,960)   -   -   -  (3,960)
Transfer on shares bought back and cancelled   -  30   -   -  30 
Net gain on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  (612)   -  (612)
Revaluation reserve transfer on available-for-sale financial assets   -   -  902   -  902 
Transfer from shares to be issued   -   -   -  (1,308)  (1,308)
Movements on deferred tax   -   -  (184)   -  (184)
At 31 December 2010  8,630  83  1,388  227  10,328 

The merger reserve arose on the acquisitions of I2S Limited, Cross Asset Management Limited (“Cross”) and Northwest Investment Management Limited completed in prior 
years. Transfers were made during the year from the merger reserve to retained earnings in respect of the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (£2,870,000) which 
arose on the acquisition of Cross, and the impairment of the investment in Cross following the payment of dividends by the subsidiary (£1,089,000).   

The capital redemption reserve is a non distributable reserve and is created on the cancellation of Ordinary share capital.

The revaluation reserve represents any gains or losses arising from fair value changes in available-for-sale financial assets. Gains or losses are recognised directly in equity, 
through the statement of changes in equity, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses

Other reserves consist of:
�� The deferred tax asset relating to future tax credits available when options are exercised.
�� Shares to be issued for the purchase of the Pi business.   

 24 RETAINED EARNINGS

Group

Own shares
held  

£000s

 Currency 
translation
adjustment 

£000s 

Profit
and loss
account 
 £000s 

Total  
£000s

At 1 January 2009  (1,741)  349  60,581  59,189 
Loss for the financial year   -   -  (3,097)  (3,097)
Equity dividends paid   -   -  (11,293)  (11,293)
Currency translation adjustment   -  (133)   -  (133)
Share-based payments charge   -   -  307  307 
Purchase of own shares  (1,245)   -   -  (1,245)
At 1 January 2010  (2,986)  216  46,498  43,728 
Loss for the financial year   -   -  (19,365)  (19,365)
Equity dividends paid   -   -  (2,835)  (2,835)
Currency translation adjustment   -  70   -  70 
Share-based payments charge   -   -  520  520 
Transfer on shares cancelled  2,981   - (2,981)   - 
Transfer from merger reserve   -   -  3,960  3,960 
Purchase of own shares  (457)   -   -  (457)
At 31 December 2010  (462)  286  25,797  25,621 

Company

Own shares
held  

£000s

Profit
and loss
account 
 £000s 

Total  
£000s

At 1 January 2009  (1,741)  52,042  50,301 
Loss for the financial year   -  (3,040)  (3,040)
Equity dividends paid   -  (11,293)  (11,293)
Share-based payments charge   -  307  307 
Purchase of own shares  (1,245)   -  (1,245)
At 1 January 2010  (2,986)  38,016  35,030 
Loss for the financial year   -  (12,659)  (12,659)
Equity dividends paid   -  (2,835)  (2,835)
Share-based payments charge   -  520  520 
Transfer on shares cancelled  2,981  (2,981)   - 
Transfer from merger reserve   -  3,960  3,960 
Purchase of own shares  (457)   -  (457)
At 31 December 2010  (462)  24,021  23,559



43

RAB Capital plc Annual Report and Accounts 2010

 25 RELATED PARTIES 
(A) Transactions with other Group companies 
(i) Group 
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this 
note. 

(ii) Company
Details of transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries (as disclosed in Note 12) which are related parties are as follows: 

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Dividends receivable from pre- and post-acquisition profits  10,398  2,992 
Expenses recharged to other Group companies  2  3 
Management fees payable  (4,577)  (3,445)
Transfer of available-for-sale financial assets  (1,914)  (5,427)
Amounts due from subsidiaries  29   - 
Amounts due to subsidiaries  (796)  (8,220)

(B) Transactions and balances with related parties
The associate of the Group (see Note 12(B)) is considered a related party.  The Group has a distribution agreement with the associate and pays commissions on 
investments introduced by the associate in the funds managed by the Group. 

The Group earns management and performance fees from the provision of investment management services to the funds it manages, which are considered related parties 
of the Group.  The Group also has investments, classified on the balance sheet as available-for-sale financial assets, in these funds.

Revenue/(expenses)
Amounts owed by/(to) 

related parties
Available for sale  
financial assets

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Associates   -  (112)   -   -   -   - 
Funds managed by the Group  10,058  12,541  4,206  5,388  38,734  45,136 

Transactions with related parties were made at market rates.  The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash.  No guarantees have been given or 
received.  No expense for bad or doubtful debts has been recognised in the year in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

(C) Business disposal   
On 2 April 2009 the Group disposed the Northwest business back to the original principals who were also employees of the Company. The consideration for the disposal 
was £1 million payable in cash.   

(D) Remuneration of key management personnel  
Key management are defined as the executive and non-executive Directors.  The remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is 
set out below in aggregate for each of the relevant categories specified in IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. Further information about the remuneration of Directors is 
provided in Note 5 and in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 16 to 18. 

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Short-term employee benefits  1,867  1,063 
Share-based payments  8  125 

 1,875  1,188 

 26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUSTS 
Included in the assets of the Group and Company are assets held by EBTs in respect of financial reporting periods 2004 and 2005 (2009: 2001, 2004 and 2005).  The 
assets of the EBTs are consolidated within the financial statements of the Group and Company until the assets vest unconditionally to employees/their beneficiaries, or the 
employee has the right to trigger unconditional vesting.  

The assets of the EBTs at 31 December were: 

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Cash and cash equivalents  17  393 
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 27 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Company is committed to make payments under non-cancellable leases of land and buildings.  These leases have varying terms.  The lease payments expensed in the 
year are disclosed in Note 3.  At 31 December the future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases fell due as follows: 

Group and Company

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Within one year  1,163  1,183 
Between one and five years  717  984 

 1,880  2,167 

The Company’s significant lease arrangement relates to the Adam Street office which was renewed on 25 December 2008. The lease has a nine year term and is 
cancellable by the Company on the third and sixth anniversaries.  The next rent review date is 25 December 2013.

The lease on the property in Hong Kong was also renewed for a further term of 3 years from 1 July 2010  

The total future minimum sublease payments expected to be received in relation to Adam Street are £237,000 (2009: £479,000). 

 28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(A) Introduction and overview  
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
�� Credit risk
�� Liquidity risk
�� Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, 
and the Group’s management of capital. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal control, including financial, operational, compliance and risk management controls. Internal controls include 
the organisational structure and the delegation of authority within the Group. The maintenance of this control system rests with the Executive Committee and senior 
management, and is designed to manage risk within acceptable limits. 

(B) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if the counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from fees due 
from funds and deposits placed with financial institutions.  

The Board is responsible for oversight of the Group’s credit risk. Cash and short-term deposits are distributed across a range of major financial institutions with high credit 
ratings. Trade receivables are monitored and reviewed for collectibility on a regular basis.  

A provision for individually impaired trade receivables was not considered necessary for amounts outstanding at the balance sheet date. Furthermore, all trade receivables 
at the balance sheet date were transacted in accordance with original terms and conditions, with no instances of renegotiation.  

Financial assets exposed to credit risk:  

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Cash and cash equivalents (see Note 17)  41,666  45,479  39,983  44,001 
Trade receivables (see Note 16)  4,312  2,868  4,271  2,868 
Amounts due from Group undertakings (see Note 16)  -   -  29   - 
Other debtors (see Note 16)  841  4,702  840  4,702 

 46,819  53,049  45,123  51,571 

The table below analyses the age and collectibility of trade receivables:  

Group and Company

2010
£000s

2009
£000s

Past due but not impaired
 Low risk  140 129
Past due comprises:
 31-60 days  31  68 
 61-90 days   -   - 
 91-120 days  9   - 
 121 days +  100  61 
 Carrying amount  140  129 

Neither past due nor impaired
 Low risk  4,172  2,739 

Total carrying amount (see Note 16)  4,312  2,868 

No collateral is held in respect of trade receivables. 
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The table below analyses the long term credit quality of cash and cash equivalents according to Standard and Poor’s:

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
AA  13,376  19,428  12,195  17,968 
A  28,279  25,666  27,777  25,647 
Not rated  11  385  11  386 

 41,666  45,479  39,983  44,001 

(C) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group maintains a portfolio of short-term deposits across a range of financial institutions to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained within the Group as a whole. 
The liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis and the month end position is included in the management information presented to the Board.  All treasury policies and 
procedures are approved by the Board.

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
The table below analyses the Group’s contractual and undiscounted financial assets and liabilities: 

2010 2009

Group

Less than
1 year
£000s

1-5 years
£000s

Less than
1 year
£000s

1-5 years
£000s

Financial assets  
Available-for-sale financial assets  29,640  11,237  39,268  8,022 
Cash and cash equivalents  41,666   -  45,479   - 
Trade receivables  4,312   -  2,868   - 
Other debtors  841   -  4,702   - 

 76,459  11,237  92,317  8,022 

Financial liabilities
Other taxation and social security  2,620   -  501   - 
Trade payables  3,446   -  1,599   - 

 6,066   -  2,100   - 

2010 2009

Company

Less than
1 year
£000s

1-5 years
£000s

Less than
1 year
£000s

1-5 years
£000s

Financial assets  
Available-for-sale financial assets  21,546  10,771  28,161  7,998 
Cash and cash equivalents  39,983   -  44,001   - 
Trade receivables  4,271   -  2,868   - 
Amounts due from Group undertakings  29   -  -   - 
Other debtors  840   -  4,702   - 

 66,669  10,771  79,732  7,998 

Financial liabilities
Amounts due to Group undertakings  796   -  8,220   - 
Other taxation and social security  2,620   -  501   - 
Trade payables  3,431   -  1,582   - 

 6,847   -  10,303   - 

(ii) Operating leases and capital commitments
See Note 27 for information on operating leases held by the Group.

The Group had no capital commitments at the balance sheet date.

(D) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange and equity prices, affect the Group’s income or the value of its financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters while optimising the return on risk. 

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
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 28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(D) Market risk (continued) 
During the year the following Sterling rates of exchange were used in the preparation of these financial statements:  

Closing Rate Average Rate

2010 2009 2010 2009
US Dollar 1.55 1.62 1.54 1.57
Euro 1.16 1.13 1.17 1.12
Japanese Yen 126.28 149.94 134.64 146.64
Hong Kong Dollar 12.07 12.58 11.99 12.15

The Group holds cash balances in US Dollars and Euros and earns fees in various foreign currencies including US Dollars and Euros. Foreign exchange risk is managed by 
ensuring non-Sterling cash receipts are converted to Sterling promptly upon receipt. Management continuously review the Group’s foreign exchange risk and may decide to 
enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge significant non-Sterling debtors. 

The Group had no forward contracts outstanding at 31 December 2010 (2009: 0).

The foreign exchange exposure in available-for-sale financial assets is managed as part of the overall market price risk. 

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date:

Assets Liabilities

Group
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010 

£000s
2009

£000s
US Dollar  17,011  33,128  1,907  287 
Euro  367  7,325  7  77 
Japanese Yen  267  1,803  -   - 
Hong Kong Dollar  1,268  1,000  8  16 

 18,913  43,256  1,922  380 

Represented by:
Available-for-sale financial assets  13,070  36,016   -   - 
Trade and other receivables  4,160  5,952   -   - 
Cash and cash equivalents  1,683  1,288   -   - 
Trade and other payables  -   -  1,922  380 

 18,913  43,256  1,922  380 

Assets Liabilities

Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010 

£000s
2009

£000s
US Dollar  16,436  26,253  1,907  287 
Euro  367  6,031  7  77 
Japanese Yen  267  1,803  -   - 
Hong Kong Dollar  -  4  -   - 

 17,070  34,091  1,914  364 

Represented by:
Available-for-sale financial assets  12,604  27,951  -   - 
Trade and other receivables  4,160  5,952  -   - 
Cash and cash equivalents  306  188  -   - 
Trade and other payables  -   -  1,914  364 

 17,070  34,091  1,914  364 

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2009: 5%) increase in US Dollar and Euro against Sterling. The sensitivity analysis includes US Dollar and Euro 
denominated financial assets and liabilities and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% (2009: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.  A positive number below 
indicates an increase in profit and other equity where the relevant currency strengthens 5% (2009: 5%) against Sterling.  For a 5% (2009: 5%) weakening of  the relevant 
currency against Sterling, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be negative:

US Dollar impact Euro impact

Group
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Gain recorded in:
Income statement  211  288  14  24 
Other equity  637  1,369  4  342 

 848  1,657  18  366 
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US Dollar impact Euro impact

Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Gain recorded in:
Income statement  206  283  14  24 
Other equity  613  1,030  4  278 

 819  1,313  18  302 

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest-bearing financial assets mature in the short-term, no longer than 12 months. As a result, the Group is subject to limited exposure to fair value interest 
rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. Excess cash and cash equivalents of the Group are invested in short-term cash deposits with the 
term to maturity usually no longer than three months. 

A 0.5% fall in the average monthly interest rate obtained on the Group’s cash and cash equivalents would reduce interest receivable and profit before taxation by 
£218,000 (2009: £233,000) (Company: £198,000; 2009: £214,000).  An increase of 0.5% would have an equal but opposite effect.  

Other price risk 
The Group’s holding of available-for-sale financial assets, predominantly consisting of investments in the funds it manages, is sensitive to movements in a diverse range 
of market prices.  The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 15% (2009: 15%) movement in the market value of available-for-sale financial assets held by the 
Group at the balance sheet date:   

Group Company
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
2010

£000s
2009

£000s
Net assets  6,132  7,094  4,848  5,424 

(E) Capital risk management 
The Group manages its capital through continuous review of its total regulatory capital which is reported monthly to the Board and the Executive Committee.  The Group 
and each regulated entity have been in compliance with their Regulatory Capital requirements at all times during the year 

The Group’s capital resources at 31 December 2010 is £81.5 million (2009: £98.6 million).  A reconciliation between equity attributable to the equity holders of the 
parent and capital resources is included in the Business Review on page 6.

(F) Externally imposed capital requirements 
The Group is supervised in the UK by the Financial Services Authority (“FSA”) on a consolidated basis. The Company submits quarterly returns to the FSA relating to capital 
adequacy. The Group submits returns at the half year and year end. Throughout the year the Group and Company held significant surplus capital over this regulatory 
requirement. 

 29 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
(A) Share-based payments
On 13 January 2011 RAB Capital plc granted options over 87.75 million Ordinary shares at an exercise price of 15p per share to employees under the rules of the 
Unapproved Share Option Scheme. Options over 60.50 million shares are subject to the achievement of performance targets relating to AUM for the Company or for 
specific fund strategies. Options over 83.25 million shares will vest evenly over 5 years and options over 4.5 million shares will vest over 3 years.

The principal assumptions for valuing the share-based payments are: 

2011

Unapproved option scheme

Exercise price 15p
Options/awards made in year 87,750,000
Weighted average share price at grant date 11.8p
Expected volatility 35%
Weighted average expected life 6.0 years
Expected exit rate 10%
Risk-free rate 0.5%-4.0%
Dividend yield 5.0%
Weighted average fair value at grant date 1.7p

The options that are subject to the achievement of performance targets will be expensed based on an assumed likelihood of achieving the objectives. 
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Shareholder information

RAB Capital plc
Company No 03694213
www.rabcap.com

Listed on the Alternative Investment Market
of the London Stock Exchange.
 
Registered office
1 Adam Street
London
WC2N 6LE
Tel: 020 7389 7000
 
Registrar
Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol
BS99 6ZZ
Tel: 0870 707 1254
www.investorcentre.co.uk 

Company Secretary
Ian Johnson
Email: ian.johnson@rabcap.com
Tel: 020 7389 0962 

Where possible, it is recommended that dividend payments are  
made directly into a bank account to provide improved security  
and faster access to funds. You may download a dividend  
mandate form at www.investorcentre.co.uk or request one by 
telephoning 0870 707 1254. 

If you wish to receive your dividend payments in a foreign  
currency, please contact the Company’s Registrar at the  
address provided above. 

Key dates
Ex-dividend date 6 April 2011
Record date 8 April 2011
Final dividend payment date 4 May 2011

Share dealing service
The Company’s Registrar offers the following share-dealing 
services: Internet share dealing at:  
www.computershare.com/dealing/uk  
or by telephone on 0870 703 0084. 

Charity share donations
Sharegift, an independent charity share-donation scheme,  
accepts donations of small parcels of shares where their value  
makes them uneconomic to sell. If you wish to donate your  
shares in this way, see www.sharegift.org (tel: 020 7930 3737) 
or contact the Company’s Registrar.

Advisers

Auditor
KPMG Audit Plc
15 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London
E14 5GL

Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland plc
280 Bishopsgate
London
EC2M 4RB

Nominated adviser and broker
Macquarie Capital (Europe) Limited
Citipoint
1 Ropemaker Street
London
EC2Y 9HD

Solicitors
Macfarlanes LLP
20 Cursitor Street
London
EC4A 1LT
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